




















«The Queen would have knelt but for the gallantry of Earl Maleolm, who
prevented her.”—WarLack, Page 189.
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very considerable research, embracing at least all
the more important events in the hero’s career ; and
the author has done good service in maintaining
those points in our national history upon which cer-
tain portions of the life and character of Wallace
turn, in opposition to the critical bias of Lord Hailes
and others, who sometimes carried their disbelief in
the statements of our native annalists to an extreme
extent. He did much, also, in following up Dr
Jamieson in support of the general accuracy of the
Minstrel’s narrative of the deeds of Wallace, which
not a few at one time affected to regard as little bet-
ter than a “minstrel’s tale.” But what we chiefly find
fault with in Carrick, and think his work defective
in consequence, is, that while he adduces very cogent
reasons in favour of the statements of Henry, he
himself only adopts such facts as he thinks not
fabulous, discarding all that seems of an opposite
character. The result is that his story is disjointed,
and frequently mystified under hypothetical dates,
which must give the reader not critically conversant
with the occurrences of the times, a very imperfect
idea of the points he means to elucidate. And he
does this, at the same time that he indulges in ima-
ginary reflections as to the motives and feelings of
Wallace under particular circumstances,—a practice
proper enough in a historical romance, but incon-
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sistent with a narrative of facts. The work, besides,
is overloaded with matter, not altogether foreign
perhaps to the subject, but which tends to confuse
and distract the attention of the reader.

So little is known of the personal actions and
adventures of Wallace, apart from the poem of
Blind Harry, that all that could be said of him from
other authorities would amount to a fragment only ;
and without his aid no life, so to speak, of the patriot
can be written. No doubt it may be said the very
atmosphere of Scotland is filled with the idolised
name and deeds of the “ wicht Wallace ;” but, how-
ever indistinctly these may be understood by the
masses, amidst the haze of a considerable antiquity,
it is unquestionably to the Minstrel that they chiefly
owe the knowledge they possess. It certainly does
appear very arbitrary, if not absurd, to select par-
ticular passages from a work as authentic, simply
because their accuracy is corroborated by other
writers, and discard the remainder as apocryphal,
because they are mowhere else mentioned. Upon
this principle, the facts which happen to be borne
out by other authors would have been treated as
wholly fabulous, had the case been otherwise ; and
by this rule what may be true, is held as untrue,
because the author happens to be the only one
known to relate the circumstances. Surely it is
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taking too much upon one’s self to draw the line of
distinction in a case of this kind, where the facts are
not obviously contradictory in themselves and im-
probable.

In literature there are fashions as well as in the
cut of a coat, and especially in that walk of litera-
ture which has reference to the past. At no distant
period it was, and is still to a considerable extent,
fashionable to deride the Minstrel as an authority.
Lord Hailes was probably among the first to add
weight to the fashion. From the days of Major,
who could only give partial credit to writings of this
kind, down to our own times, it has been fashionable
for the learned to doubt or disbelieve what was
generally taken for granted. Because the Minstrel
conveyed in the form of a poem, in the vernacular,
or language of the vulgar, and which, it seems, he
was in the habit of reciting himself in the character
of a minstrel—because he embodied in his poem
what was commonly known of Wallace, as recorded
by Blair, his “author,” and from his own time
downward became the instructor of the people in
all that related to their much-venerated martyr to
freedom, the learned must forsooth doubt the facts
80 patent to the unlettered!

Fortunately for the credit of the Minstrel, and
the memory of Wallace, much of this silly jealousy
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of popular knowledge has been put to flight by the
discovery of corroborative testimony in favour of
the patriotic bard; and he is now no longer “an
author,” as Lord Hailes remarked, “whom every
historian copies, yet no historian but Sir Robert
Sibbald will venture to quote.”

It occurs to us that the Minstrel's account of
Wallace has never been looked upon in its true
light. It is not a history of the country, of a
certain period, like Wyntoun's Cronykil, or the
English Chronicles, such as Langtoft's or that of
Lanercost, but a biography of the hero, in which
he records public events chiefly as they happen to
fall in connexion with his story. As such it would
be absurd to expect from him a full historical
account of all that happened in the war of inde-
pendence, from its first commencement in 1296 till
1305, the year in which Wallace was brought so
treacherously to his end. On the other hand, it
would just be as absurd to expect in the Chronicles
we have mentioned a full account of the life and
transactions of Wallace, the object of the writers
being merely to record in a general way such events
of public importance as came within their know-
ledge. Viewed in this light the Minstrel’s narra-
tive becomes no longer chargeable with omissions
which it was not his business to record, or with the
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relation of occurrences in the career of his hero
which are not alluded to by contemporary his-
torians. His field lay in a different province, and
much of his information was only accessible to
himself, or to Blair, from whose written memoir he
took the principal facts. In this view alone can
we form a proper estimate of the Minstrel's life of
Wallace ; and to throw aside his statements, or any
portion of them, would be to cast from us the only,
and it may be well-authenticated, information the
world is possessed of as to the more private and
personal history of one of the greatest and perhaps
best of men that ever ennobled humanity.

All that can be justly laid to the charge of the
Minstrel is, what may be claimed as a minstrel’s
licence, the embellishment of what he describes.
In this way, he may occasionally dilate too minutely
on the personal prowess of Wallace in battle —
though no one can doubt his herculean strength
and agility—and, after the fashion of the age, ex-
aggerate the number of the enemy engaged or slain
—but scarcely in a single instance, as we have
shown in the course of these pages, is there occa-
sion to doubt that the main facts happened as
described. His simple narrative is consecutive—
the one event springs naturally out of the other—
whereas the “Life of Wallace” by Carrick, made up
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from what he conceives the best authorities, is a
disjointed piece of patchwork.

The only omission of comsequence which we
notice in the Minstrel is the meeting of the Scots
and English armies near Irvine, in 1297, when the
former, through disunion, surrendered on a treaty
negotiated by the Bishop of Glasgow. It is implied
that Wallace was present on the occasion, but we have
no evidence of the fact. On the contrary, there is
strong reason to believe that he was not. Hence the
Minstrel is silent on the subject.

Perfect accuracy as to dates could hardly be ex-
pected in a metrical work of the kind. But, taken
as a whole, the discrepancies in chronology are by
no means so irreconcilable as has been represented.
The greatest of these refers to the first visit of
Wallace to France. This is said by the Minstrel to
have occurred in the spring of 1298, (having set
sail on the 21st April) after his return from the
invasion of England, and when he was still Guar-
dian of Scotland; and he brings him back from
France, “the later day of August” of the same year.
But Wallace was at the battle of Blackironside,
fought on the 12th June previous. The month of
August, therefore, must either be a mistake of the
Minstrel or his amanuensis—for, being blind, he
could not write himself, This would indeed be a
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matter of no great importance, did it not tend to
throw dubiety on the fact of Wallace visiting France
at this period at all. The time between the 21st of
April and the 12th of June, when he fought the
battle of Blackironside, is certainly a limited period
for a voyage to France and back again, yet it is
true that between the 29th of March, when he
granted the charter to Scrymgeour at Torphichen,
and the battle of Blackironside, no trace of him is
discoverable in Scotland ; and. it is perfectly within
the bounds of possibility that he could have per-
formed the voyage between the two dates.

We shall not further anticipate what we have
said on this subject in the proper place; but being
convinced of the general accuracy of the Minstrel,
we may here explain that in the following pages
we have closely adhered to his narrative as the
ground-work of our undertaking, amplifying or
correcting the text, as the case may be, from other
authentic sources. In this way we believe our
labours may be regarded somewhat in the light of -
a national service.

The much-prized “household words,” which used
to be, if they are not still, familiar at the fireside
of every Scottish peasant, in reference to the “gude
‘Wallace” and his deeds, have been drawn from the
narrative of the Minstrel § but the quaint style in
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which he wrote, and the obsolete phrases with which
his poem abounds, have long ago rendered it all but
unintelligible to the common reader. Indeed, even
those practised in antiquarian lore of this kind, have
difficulty sometimes in following the meaning of the
bard. Hamilton of Gilbertfield, the contemporary
of Ramsay, in the early part of last century, pub-
lished a paraphrased edition of the Minstrel, in
modern Scotch. Though badly executed, as all trans-
mutations of this kind generally are, yet it served
the purpose so far as to keep alive the popular story
of Wallace amongst the peasantry. ‘It was from
this source that Burns drew his patriotic inspiration
—and no doubt many other eminent Scotsmen be-
sides. But even Gilbertfield’s edition, with ail its
faults, is now very rare, so that the deeds of Wallace
are likely at no distant period to become a mere
myth in the popular mind, or te be remembered
only through the medium of Miss Porter’s “ Scottish
Chiefs,”—a romance which, under the circumstances,
may be said to have assumed the position once occu-
pied by the Minstrel. In so far as the scanty
notices of contemporary English chroniclers have re-
corded the transactions of Wallace, or the tremulous
pens of our own later historians have ventured to
avail themselves of the more ancient national autho-
rities, posterity can form a very inadequate idea of

b
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what he achieved for Scotland. With a fearless
hand, therefore, we shall attempt to transfuse the
poetical narrative of the Minstrel into prose, as the
only full and genuine account of the truly great
man, who, comparatively unaided, was able to hurl
back the chivalry of the proudest and most warlike
of England’s kings, and to whom Scotland and
Scotsmen are chiefly indebted for the name they
have so long sustained as a free and warlike people.
And we venture to say, in this garb, it will be found
that there is nothing so wild or miraculous in the
narrative as many have conceived.

But for Barbour’s poem of “The Bruce” we
would have known almost as little of the personal
history of the hero of Bannockburn, and his extra-
ordinary adventures and hardships at the outset of
his career, as we do historically of Wallace. Yet
Barbour’s narrative is scarcely less romantic or
incredible than that of the Minstrel. The deeds of
personal daring on the part of Bruce are in many
instances quite as extraordinary as those of Wallace.
They were both men of great personal strength,
and highly accomplished in the use of arms; and
when it is considered that the advantage in strength
lay with Wallace, it is not surprising that the story
of his prowess as a whole should exceed that of
Bruce. The credit which has been awarded to
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Barbour, and withheld from Henry, may be partially
accounted for by the fact that the one was a learned,
though not a better poet, and could act as his own
amanuensis, thus insuring greater accuracy in diction
and the minor details of composition, than could be
expected from one who was blind, and in some
respects nneducated. His calling of a minstrel, too,
may have helped to disparage his poem amongst the
learned, as the office of the bards fell into disrepute.

It only remains to be stated that, in working out
our task, we have necessarily been compelled to go
over much of the same ground as Carrick and others,
and, while carefully gleaning all that they have
adduced, either in fact or argument, we have been
sedulous to compare these with the various autho-
rities, and to bring from such other sources what
they either did not choose to appropriate, or did not
discover. In this way, from the plan adopted, we
flatter ourselves that the reader will find in the
following pages all that is known of Wallace, ar-
ranged in its natural order, so far as that can be
ascertained, and illustrated by notes and other expla-
natory matter, which must prove satisfactory to the
reader, whether convinced of the accuracy of certain
passages or not. It is not the history of Wallace,
according to any individual view, but the history in
so far as it can be collected from the only authoritics
We possess,
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into the wide field of general history, which it was
h1s object to avoid. If it is meant that the work
should have been more sketchy, more fanciful, a re-
ference to the original preface will show that this
also the author wished to avoid. Miss Porter has
already done enough in fiction, and so has Carrick,
in a historical sense. The author, at the same time,
is of opinion that there are not sufficient authentic
materials in existence to illustrate the times of
Edward of England, and Wallace of Scotland, to
draw individual portraits and sketch the character
and manners of the age with that breadth and
truthfulness which would render such an attempt
tolerable. If even Macaulay has not succeeded in
sketching the history and manners of England dur-
ing the reigns of William and Mary, without in-
curring severe and merited criticism, how much
more hopeless would be the task to convey a correct
idea of those of the thirteenth century! The author
has only to remark, that “ Wallace and his Times ”
is not a romance, nor even the fancy-sketchings of
an enthusiast author, but a plain narrative of those
events of the great struggle for Scottish freedom in
which Wallace was a chief actor.

An interesting addition to the life of the Scottish
patriot will be found at the end of the work, in an ac-
count of « The Kerlies or M‘Kerlies of Cruggleton,”
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he had to go abroad for some time, and greatly
impaired his estates in support of the Stuarts, he
survived for many years afterwards, and was alive
in 1712. He married, for his second wife, Elvzabeth,
daughter of Andrew Wauchope, Esq., of Niddrie-
Merschell, who died at an advanced age in 1710;
and her brother, James, tutor of Niddrie, who drew
up the inventory in 1715, married Jean, daughter
of this Sir William Wallace by his first marriage,
from which union the present proprietor of Niddrie-
Merschell is descended. There was thus a double
bond of connexion between the Craigie and Niddrie
families, and it is possible that the “picture of
Wallace” in “a gilt frame,” if a separate one from
the “wicht Wallace,” might have been a portrait of
the knight of Craigie.

Be this as it may, the painting of Wallace in the
dining-room is of an older date, and quite different
in every respect from the style which prevailed
during the era of the cavaliers,* and has, besides,
an inseription upon it, importing that it is a portrait
of the hero of Scotland. What pretensions it has
to be a bond fide representation of the champion,

we, of course, cannot say. Our opinion is that it

* At Niddrie House there is a good portrait of Dundee and
two members of the family, (Cols. John and Francis Wauchope,)
who, having fought for King James at home, afterwards rose to
great distinction in the service of France and Spain,
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has, in some way or other, come from Craigie House,
possibly through the double marriage already men-
tioned, and the close intimacy, political and other-
wise, existing between the families of Wallace and
Wauchope. If we are right in this conclusion, the
painting has the recommendation of having been
esteemed by the Craigie-Wallace family ; and from
the length of time it is known to have been pre-
served at Niddrie House—upwards of one hundred
and fifty years certain—it has at least the merit of
not being a modern fabrication.

But what makes us think that it has emanated,
in some way or other, from a peculiar if not a
thoroughly genuine source, is the circumstance that
there is another portrait of Wallace, considered
original, described in the ¢ Wallace Papers”—a
Maitland-Club publication, printed in 1841—as “in
the possession of H. P. Wallace, Esq., of Priory
Lodge, -near Cheltenham.” Of this picture the
owner says:—“The portrait was procured in
France, by Margaret, Countess of Southesk; and
by her presented to an ancestor of mine, Robert
Wallace of Holmston,* then Sheriff of Ayrshire.
The picture is framed in. the remains of the tree
called Sir William Wallace’s oak, from the Torwood,
Btirlingshire, cut from the stump, 1779, and given

* Holmston is within a mile of Ayr.
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to my father, Sir James Dunbar of Mochrum. The
picture is in perfect preservation, and a fine repre-
sentation of a Scotch warrior of the period. In
letters at the top of the picture,— Gul: Wallas:
Scotus: hostium : terror.” Mr Wallace of Kelly saw
the picture in my house some time ago, and knew
of nothing to compete with it in originality. It
answers to the description of the portrait given by
Blind Harry, who alludes to a picture of him in
France ; but into whose hands such a picture fell is
stated to be unknown, at least the probability is that
this picture was painted in France, and it is not
probable that it was a eopy.”

‘Whether this portrait, though painted in France,
is an original or not is questionable. We have _
never seen it, but there is an engraving from it in
«The Pictorial History of Scotland,” upon compar-
ing which with the frontispiece to this volume, it
will be seen that both it and the one at Niddrie
House, if not a copy the one from the other, must
have had a common origin. The portrait in the
“Pictorial” engraving conveys the idea of larger
proportions—is more gigantic, in other words—than
the one at Niddrie; but this effect may have been
produced by the engraver, who was possibly imbued
with the idea that Wallace was a giant! In this
respect the Niddrie portrait has the advantage, be-
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ing more natural. The countenance is broader, with
less elevation of forehead, and of finer expression.
As it is, we cannot help thinking that the two pic-
tures are to some extent corroborative of one an-
other, and as such worthy of more consideration
than is usually given to paintings of the Scottish
hero. If the Priory Lodge portrait only came into
the Holmston family at the time Robert Wallace
was Sheriff of Ayrshire, about 1723, the one at
Niddrie House has the advantage, in point of age,
at least in so far as possession in this country is
concerned.

That there was a portrait of Wallace of some
kind taken in France seems probable, otherwise the
Minstrel could not have described his appearance so
accurately. It must also have been conveyed to him
in words, for he could not see the picture himself,
even although it had been brought to Scotland.
Prior to the battle of Falkirk, according to Henry,
and while the Guardian was in the north pressing’
the siege of Dundce, a messenger from the King of
France landed at the mouth of the Tay, soliciting the
aid of Wallace against the English in the province
of Guienne. By way of honouring the hero of
Scotland, whose fame had travelled over the Conti-
nent, the heralds of France sent with the envoy what
may perhaps be regarded as an emblazonment of
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his deeds and arms, with a “descriptioune” of him
taken there, while Wallace was on his first visit at
the court of Philip; but whether this description
was a painting, or in words, may be questioned.
The Minstrel says :—

“The wyt of France thocht Wallace to commend ;

In to Scotland, with this harrold, thai send
Part off his deid, and als the descriptioune

Off kim tane thar, be men of descretioun,
Clerkis, knychtis, and harroldys, that him saw;
Bot I hereoff can nocht reherss thaim aw.
Wallace statur, off gretness, and of hycht,

Was jugyt thus, be discretioun off rycht,

That saw him bath dissemblit and in weid ;
Nyne quartaris large he was in lenth indeid;
Thryd part lenth in schuldrys braid was he,
Rycht sembly, strang, and lusty for to se;

Hys lymmys gret, with stalwart paiss and sound,
Hys browys hard, his armes gret and round;
Hys handis maid rycht lik till a pawmer,

Off manlik mak, with naless gret and cler;
Proportionyt lang and fayr was his wessage;
Rycht sad off spech, and abill in curage;

Braid breyst and heych, with sturdy crag and gret;
Hys lyppys round, his noyss was squar and tret, *
Bowand bron haryt, on browis and brewis lycht,
Cler aspre eyn, lik dyamond’s brycht.

‘Wnadyr the chyn, on the left syd, was seyn,

Be hurt, a wain; his colour was sangweyn.
‘Woundis he had, in mony diuerss place,

Bot fayr and weill kepyt was his face.”

According to modern measurement, Wallace would
be six feet nine in height, and three feet three in

* Long,
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breadth at the shoulders. The painting, it will be
found, answers very minutely, so far as the head
and bust are concerned. Wallace had auburn hair,
inclined to curl, with a sanguine or florid complexion.
This seems to have been a characteristic of the
Wallace family. A lock of the hair of Mrs James
Wauchope, who died in 1715, is still preserved in
an escritoir at Niddrie House. It had been cut off,
as a memento, after death, by her sorrowing hus-
band, and carefully put aside. The colour is a fine
auburn.*

It has been objected to the existence of any
ortginal portrait of Wallace, that portrait-painting
was unknown as an art in Europe in his day; but
this is at best only a negative objection. The art of
emblazonment was then in full practice, and why
not the ability to portray the faces of men as well
as ‘animals.t The altarpieces of Trinity Church,
row to be seen in Holyrood Palace, prove that good
portraits as well as good paintings were not unknown
in Scotland in the.time of Mary of Gueldres.

* Beside this relic there is another, put up and labelled in the
same handwriting, and apparently about the same period, a
small quantity of the hair of James VII. The colour is dark,
shaded with gray.

+ Even in England, in Chaucer's time, there must have been
artists of no small ability ; for, in “ The Knightes Tale,” he tells us
that the Temple of Diana was

“ Depented by the walles up and doun
Of hunting, and shamefast chastetee.”
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The early history of Scotland, like that of most
other nations, is involved in fable. The true origin
of the people has, in consequence, been the subject
of much inquiry, and frequently of angry debate,
between many of our most learned and able anti-
quaries. The best supported hypothesis, drawn from
the topographical language of the country, and the
existence of the Celtic tongue amongst a consider-
able portion of the people in our own day, with other
concurring circumstances, seems to be that the Scots
and Picts were originally the same Celtic aborigines
of Cdledonia, of the same race as the more southern
Britons whom the Romans overcame and provincial-
ised; and that the Gothic admixture in blood and
language which now so widely prevails arose from
the early settlement of the Orkneys and some of the
Western Isles by the Northmen, who not only over-
ran but held a considerable portion of Ircland pre-
vious to the English conquest. They also not only
pressed forward on the mainland of the east of
Scotland, but effected a permanent settlement in
what was called the Dane-law of England, and for
years disputed the sovereignty with the Anglo-
Saxons, What is called the Scottish dialect, or the
language of the Lowland Scots, no doubt originated
with this people; and its chief difference from the
kindred dialects of Northumberland, Cumberland,
Yorkshire, Lincolnshire, &c., may be attributed to
its coming more immediately into contact with
the Celtic. In England, the Danes drove out or
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commingled with the Saxons, a kindred people. In
Scotland, on the contrary, they had to press back-
ward or mix with the Guidhil or Gael. Hence the
difference, to some extent, in the physical appear-
ance, as well as speech, of the English and Scottish
people.

‘When, by the union of the Scots and Picts, Ken-
neth was enabled to overcome, in 975, the British
kingdom of Strathclyde, which embraced all the
Lowlands south of the Clyde and Forth—save, per-
haps, the district called Lothian, which.was nomin-
ally held by the Saxons*—the whole became attached
to the Scottish crown, and great numbers of the
Picts, who were chiefly located on the eastern shores
of Scotland proper, and now thoroughly intermixed
with the Northmen and their descendants, passed
over the Forth into the newly-acquired territory.
No doubt, many of the Irish Scots from Argyle
crossed the Clyde at various points, and settled on
the lands of the Britons, a large body of whom are
said to have cut their way through the Saxons into
Wales after their last fight on “the gory field of
Vacornar.” But all Galloway, which then compre-
hended Dumfriesshire and Ayrshire, had previously
been settled by the Cruithne or Picts of Ulster,
originally the same people, so that the eastern coun-
ties of the Lowlands were more open to immigration
than the western.

* Edwinsburgh (Idinburgh) was formally resigned to the
Seottish king in 1020,
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The court of the Scottish kings, however, con-
tinued to be held north of the Forth. Malcolm
Caenmore resided chiefly at Dunfermline, as did
several of his successors. David 1., while Prince of
Cumbria, (the newly-acquired kingdom of Strath-
clyde,) is known to have lived occasionally at Carlisle,
and sometimes at Cadzow Castle, in Lanarkshire, the
ruins of which stronghold still exist. e was pro-
bably the first of the royal line who permanently
took up his residence in the Lowlands.

The conquest of England by William of Normandy
in 1066 produced a considerable change north as
well as south of the Tweed. Many of the Saxons, as
they are styled in history, but who were in reality
Northmen from the Dane-law, fled into Scotland,
and thus augmented the Gothic population of the
Lowlands. Not a few of the Norman chiefs them-
selves, disgusted with the tyranny of William, made
offer of their services to Scotland, which were
accepted in the most flattering manner. In this
way numerous Norman and Saxon (or rather Danish)
barons—a kindred people, being both from Scandi-
navia—came to be settled in Scotland—north as
well as south—under Malcolm Caenmore, Alexander
I, and especially during the reign of David I. Even
at a much later period such settlements had not
altogether ceased. 1t would be wrong, at the same
time, to imagine that the influx of strangers either
drove out the old inhabitants, or had any material
effect in changing the character or language of the
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people. What is now the Scottish language must
have been formed prior to this period. The Norman
chiefs, as well as their Norman followers, spoke
French, which became the court language both of
England and Scotland ;* and those from the Dane-
law might help to extend the Gothic speech of the
Scots, but were not numerous enough to change
the language of the people, had that language been
wholly Celtic.

It is known that the feudal system prevailed in
Scotland—perhaps in an imperfect state—before
the invasion of England by William, and that lands
were gifted by the crown. As a proof of this, there
is extant, amongst the charters of the Priory of St
Andrews, a grant of the lands of Kyrkenes by Mac-
beth and Gruoch, his queen, to the Culdees. The
language of the pure Scots at this time, as appears
from the grant, was Celtic, though, perhaps, some-
what different from modern Gaelic. In describing
the boundaries of the land it says, amongst other
things: “Item, a pubblica strata que ducit apud
Kinhirkethyn, (Inverkeithing,) usque ad saxum Hi-
berniensium . . . . quod Malcolmus Rex, filius Dun-
cani, concessit eis salinagium, quod Scotice dicitur
chonnane.”t The salt-work was called chonnane in

* There are examples of charters in French, so late as the
reign of Robert I. A grant of the lands of Barns and Place
Moylin, near Haddington, to Alexander Seyton, is in that lan-
guage.

T “Origin of the Scots and the Scottish Language.” Edin-
burgh : Nimmo, 1858.
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the Scottish language, but that word is not to be
found in the Gaelic dictionaries of the present day,
and the inference is, that it may belong to the
Pictish dialect of the Gaelic. At the same time,
from the name of the lands, Kvrkness, it is evident
that the Gothic language of Scotland had made
progress at that early period. The expression,
“saxum Hiberniensinm,” the Irishmen’s Stone, is
also curious, as shewing that the Argyleshire High-
landers, to whom it no doubt refers, were called
Irishmen, from their descent from the Dalriadians,
in contradistinction to the old Scots of the country.
The grant is thus valuable as proving three things
—that the Scots spoke Celtic—that the language of
the Lowland Scots was then in existence—and that
the Scots, as a body, were not from Ireland, as some
historians hold. It is a curious fact that certain
names were common to the Picts of Galloway, who
were of the Cruithne of Ulster, and the Picts of
Fife, and east of Drumalbin. The first husband of
the Countess of Carrick, mother of Robert the Bruce,
was Adam de Kilconcath.* In Fife there is a
place called Kilconquhar,—the Cell or Church of
Conacher—and near Dunkeld there has long been
a small clan called Conacher,} which is just another

* His death is thusnoticed in the “ Chronicle of Melrose : ”—
“ Qbit Adam de Kilconcath, comes de Karrye, in Acconia, cujus
uxorem, committissam de Karrye, postea junior Robertus de
Bruys accepit in sponsam,” 1270.

. 1 In Mackay’s “ History of the House and Clan of Mackay,” a
tradition is mentioued that the Forbeses and Mackays sprang
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mode of spelling and pronouncing the Kilconcath
or Concath of Carrick and Fife. The inference to
be drawn from this is, that the Picts of Pictavia in
Scotland, and the Cruithne of Ulster, now of Gallo-
way, were one and the same people—the Ulster
Picts having originally passed over to Ireland from
Scotland.

The near proximity of so powerful and ambitious
a neighbour as William the Conqueror, naturally
induced the Scottish kings to strengthen their mili-
tary system, and they could not have acted more
wisely than by receiving with open arms such of

from the same progenitor, whose name was Ochonacher. He is
said to have been in the army which William the Lion brought
“ from the Hebrides and the West of Scotland, from Kintyre
northward, including a considerable body from Ireland,” against
Harold, Earl of Orkney and Caithness, toward the close of the
twelfth century. But little faith can be placed on a tradition
90 vague as this. If he was the immediate ancestor of Jokn and
Alexander—the heads of the respective branches of Forbes and
Mackay—it is rather curious that his own name should be lost
sight of in these two great families, and survive only in the small
clan of the Conachers, which has long existed in the vicinity of
Dunkeld. One of them is mentioned by Sir Walter Scott as
having taken part in the celebrated clan battle on the Inch of
Perth, in the reign of Robert III., in 1392 ; and another, Angus
Conacher, was the author of a medical MS., written at Ardconel,
Lochawside, Argyleshire, in 1612, now in possession of the
Wighland Society. But whether the Conachers are derived
from this fabulous Irish Ochonacher or not, it is evident that
Kilconcath in Carrick, and Kilconquhar in Fife, must have had
some other and an earlier origin. The name of Ochonacher,
(James Ochonacher,) it may be remarked, occurs in the session-
beoks of Dundee so late as 1660.
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William’s followers as chose to desert his stand-
ard. By so doing they weakened their neighbour
while they strengthened themselves, and introduced
amongst their subjects the example of men of
mark, who had been nursed in the -chivalrous
feelings and practices of the leading nations of
Europe.

After St David’s time, who closed his reign in
1153, a considerable period of peace was enjoyed,
interrupted only by the expedition of William the
Lion into England, during which he was surprised
and taken prisoner. Scotland, it is universally
admitted, made great progress in agriculture and
commerce, and became wealthy. Any one will be
convinced of this who consults Fordun, the « Foedra,”
Macpherson’s “ Annals of Commerce,” &c. Berwick
was the great emporium of our foreign traffic, and
vessels of unusual size were built even as far north
as Inverness. Such were the resources of Scotland

in 1244, that Alexander II. was enabled to lead an -

army of 100,000 foot, with 3000 cavalry, to the
borders of England, for the purpose of repelling a
threatened invasion by Henry III., but which was
amicably averted by treaty. Under Alexander III,
the nation attained to unexampled prosperity. That
monarch paid great attention to agriculture; and
his chamberlain’s rolls, or accounts, in many in-
stances attest the affluent state of his exchequer.
The splendour of his army, at the celebrated battle
of Largs, in 1263, where the pretensions of the
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Northmen were silenced for ever, was the theme of
even the encmy’s praise. And on such good terms
were England and Scotland, that Alexander IIL,
who married the Princess Margaret, eldest daughter
of Henry IIL, furnished that monarch, in 1264,
when he and Prince Edward were so pressed by the
Earl of Gloucester and other barons that the Tower
of London was besieged, with an army of 30,000
men, with which he was enabled to subdue his
rebellious subjects. Though much friendly inter-
course prevailed between the two countries at this
time, it must not be forgotten that Henry III.
entertained very ambitious views towards Scotland,
which the firmness of Alexander alone prevented
him from putting into execution. In paying homage
to his father-in-law for the lands he held in Eng-
land, during the marriage festival at York, the
boy king, with much dignity and firmness, repudi-
ated the proposition, insidiously proposed by Henry,
to do homage also for his kingdom ; and in all his
intercourse with England, care was specially taken
that nothing should be construed into an acknow-
ledgment of feudal dependence upon the sister
country. By his firmness in this particular, and the
union and strength of the Scots at the time, he com-
pletely baffled all those attempts to claim the feudal
supremacy of Scotland,—attempts so grievously put
in force by Edward I, Henry’s son and successor.
The death of Alexander IIL in 1285, followed soon
afterwards by that of his grand-daughter, “the Maiden
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of Norway,” exposed the country to the utmost dis-
traction and ruin. As the ancient song, preserved
by Wyntoun, has it :—
“Quhen Alysandyr, oure kyng, wes dede,
That Scotland led in luive and le,
Away wes sons * of ale and brede,
Of wyne and wax, of gamyn and gle:
Oure gold wes changyd into lede—
Cryst, borne into virgynte,
Succour Scotland, and remede,
That stad is in perplexyte.”
By the way, it may be remarked that this relic of the
thirteenth century is in itself an evidence of the
great progress which had been made by Scotland in
the literature of the Gothic Scots. There is nothing
in the English of the same age at all to be compared
with it, either in point of language or as a poetical
conception ; a pretty good argument that our Low-
land tongue was not derived from England.

By this failure of the line of Alexander IIL, the
succession devolved upon the heirs of David, Earl
of Huntingdon, youngest son of David I, of whom
John Baliol, Robert Bruce, and John Hastings,
were the representatives, being the issue respectively
of his three daughters. In this “perplexyte,” six
regents were appointed to rule Scotland during the
competition between the candidates. These were
Robert, Archbishop of Glasgow, John Cumin, and
John the Great Steward of Scotland, for the south
side of the Forth; Macduff, Earl of Fife, John

* Plenty.
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Cumin, Earl of Buchan, and Williamm Fraser, Arch-
bishop of St Andrews, for the north side. For two
years after the death of the king, a civil war raged
between the factions of Bruce and Baliol, a fact not
generally known to history.*

In an evil hour the competitors agreed to submit
their claims to Edward I., who, reviving the often-
exploded plea of vassalship to England, undertook
the task of umpire, on condition that he should be
acknowledged as Lord Paramount of Scotland. This
plea had its foundation in the capture of William
the Lion, who invaded England in 1174, and was
surprised and taken by the Barons of Yorkshire,
with 400 horsemen. To obtain his liberty, the
Barons of Scotland agreed to the proposal of Henry
that he should become his liegeman for Scotland,
as well as his other territories. Henry died in 1189,
and was succeeded by Richard Caur de Lion, who,
with the view of proceeding on a crusade to the
Holy Land, deemed it prudent to restore to William
the castles of Roxburgh and Berwick, which he held
as a guarantee of his vassalship, and to relieve him
of all such servitude in future, save for the lands
which he held of the crown in England. This he
did for the consideration of £10,000, and the secu-
rity which the gracious act afforded to his own
kingdom during his absence. This agreement
between Richard and William settled the question
for ever. It was therefore mere pretence on the

* Tytler's “ History of Scotland.”
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part of Edward to revive this claim, to cover the
ultimate designs which he entertained and subse-
quently put in operation to reduce Scotland to
thorough servitude. As Sir Walter Scott contended
in the Quarterly Review, no English monarch ever
was in possession of the country so as “to create a
fief as a feudal dependence.” It is worthy of remark, |
at the same time, that it was not the nation at large
that submitted to Edward’s plea of supremacy, but
simply the claimants themselves. They were will-
ing to accept the crown upon his own terms, but in
this they did not consult the will of the people, and
no parliament was called to sanction their resolution.
‘When Baliol subsequently renounced his allegiance
to Edward, it was his own renouncement; Scot-
land, as a kingdom, stood in the position of never
having undertaken the obligations of vassalship to
the English crown. Fordun, Barbour, and Wyn-
toun, represent Bruce (grandfather of the hero of
Bannockburn) as having had the first offer of the
Scottish crown, but that he would not have it as the
vassal of England. The documents produced by
Palgrave, in his illustrations of Scottish History,
shew that this was a popular error. But as the
correspondence of the Bruce party on the subject
was, of course, secret, these historians could have
no means of ascertaining the truth. Bruce, the
competitor, was a Norman baron, holding large
possessions in England, with which he was as much
identified as he was with Scotland. His grandson,
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Robert the Bruce, however, inherited, through his
mother, not only the blood, but the estates of the
old Earls of Carrick, and it is evident that, from a
very early period, he had secretly resolved upon
espousing the national cause, and asserting his right
to the crown.

It is of little moment what were the precise argu-
ments put forward by Baliol and Bruce, in support
of their respective claims. Baliol was the great-
grandson of the eldest daughter, and Bruce the
grandson of the youngest. As is well known,
Edward, after the most protracted and ecapricious
deliberation, decided in favour of Jokn Baliol; and
he decided correctly, according to our modern notions
of succession ; but at that time the matter was not
so well understood. Bruce, being the grandson, and
Baliol the great-grandson, it was held by many, on
the old Celtic prineiple, that he was nearest in degree
to the main stock, though by a younger daughter.
As Blind Harry has it :—

¢ Qur prynce Dawy, the Erle of Huntyntoun,
Thre dochtrys had that war of gret renoun;
Off quhilk thre com, Bruce, Balyoune, and Hastyng;
Twa of the thre desyryt to be kyng.
Balyoune clamyt of fyrst gre lynialy;
And Bruce fyrst male of the secund gre by.”

The right of Bruce, besides, had been recognised by
the Estates in the reign of Alexander IT.¥
Baliol ascended the throne of Scotland as the

* The documents connected with this historical fact were first
published by the Record Commission in 1837.
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ltegeman of Edward I in 1293. And now it hap-
pened that the policy pursued by the Scottish kings,
from the time of Malcolm Caenmore downwards, in
bestowing lands and honours upon the disaffected
Normans and Saxons of England, became a source
of weakness in place of strength to the country.
But this they could hardly have been expected to
foresee. The oldest of these barons had not been
planted in Scotland much above two hundred years,
many of them not half that time, and not a few
were only of recent transplanting, while the more in-
fluential of them held lands in both kingdoms. Itwas
therefore of comparatively little importance to them
in what way the crown of Scotland was settled, or
whether there was a erown at all in Scotland, since
they might as well be vassals to Edward for all their
lands as a portion of them. Scotland was no more
to them than England, so that the tenure of their
lands was secure. Under these circumstances they
had only to range themselves on the side of their
friends, or that which they deemed the strongest, in
the coming struggle, quite irrespective of the inde-
pendence or honour of the country; and when we
reflect that nearly all the great baronies, and prin-
cipal offices of hereditary trust, were in the hands of
such adventurers, it will appear the more surprising
how the people of Scotland were enabled to sur-
mount the complication of difficulties by which the
national existence was borne down. Not only so,
but the burden of resistance, especially in Wallace’s
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time, fcll chiefly on the inhabitants of the Lowlands
north and south of the Clyde. The Highlanders,
with the exception of a portion of the west High-
landers, under Sir Neil Campbell of Lochow, more
secure in their fastnesses, took little interest in the
struggle. On the contrary, many of them, such as
the Macdougals of Lorn, espoused the opposite side.
Had the timeserving barons kept aloof altogether
it would have fared much better with Scotland; but
many of them took an active part in attempting to
manacle the nation. Nor were they without mercen-
ary motives in doing so. According to the Rotuls
Scotice, the following parties were to have lands to
the annual value of £100 each, on condition that
the kingdom of Scotland should continue in the
possession of the English crown :—the Bishop of
Glasgow, James the Steward, Patrick Earl of Dun-
bar, William Sinclair, Patrick de Graham. John de
Soulis was to have lands to the annual value of 100
merks, and Joh.. umyn had a gift of the large sum
of £1563, 14s. 63d. Nothing but the most in-
domitable courage and perseverance on the part of
the people, headed by leaders springing wholly or
partially from the old inhabitants, or who had
thoroughly identified themselves with the land of
their adoption, could have thwarted the Edwards in
their magnificent attempts to add Scotland to the
erown of England.

One of the first and most patriotic of these leaders
was the ever-memorable Stk WILLIAM WALLACE,
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KN1GHT OF ELLERSLIE., with respect to whom
Burns has well expressed the warmth of national
feeling—
“ At Wallace’ name, what Scottish blood
But boils up in a spring-tide flood ?”

Curiously enough, for what is known of this great
man we have but little occasion to thank history.
While he lived, and for some time afterwards, the
country was so distracted that historical, or any
other kind of literary composition, was hardly to, be
looked for ; and those historians who subsequently
undertook to record the events of that period, touched
but slightly the interesting narrative involved in the
career of the hero. For ages after his death the
eountry appears to have been so full of traditional
stories respecting his extraordinary deeds that it
seemed somewhat superfluous to attempt a narrative
of them. It is possible, also, that the jealousy with
which he was regarded by many of the nobility may
have helped to smother for a time the light which
the annalist might have thrown upon his career.
Bruce, who finished what Wallace had begun, was
fortunate in having Barbour for his chronicler.
Barbour’s poem, “The Bruce,” was finished, it is
believed, in 1375, only some twenty-three years
after the death of the king himself. Wyntoun,
whose “Cronykil” was finished in 1424, quotes some-
what largely from Barbour, and excuses himself from
writing on the same subject, after the able manner
in which it had been handled by his predecessor.
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In a similar feeling, referring to the deeds of Wallace,
he says—
“ Of his gud dedis and manhad,

Gret gestis, I hard say, ar made ;

But sa’ mony, I trow noucht,

As he in-till hys dayis wroucht.

Quha all hys dedis of prys wald dyte

Hym worthyd a gret buk to wryte;

And all thai to wryte in here,

I want bathe wyt and gud leisure.”

It has been supposed that the gestts, or tales, alluded
to were Fordun’s Scott-Chronicon, which Wyntoun
had not seen, or the prose account of Wallace by
Blair. Henry’s poem of “ Wallace” was not written
for thirty-six years after “The Bruce,” and it is pos-
sible that the author was induced to compose it, not
only from the example of Barbour, but from the
language of the Cronykil itself. The account given
by Wyntoun and that of Henry, in reference to the
quarrel between Wallace and the English at Lanark,
bear such an affinity as could hardly be the result
of accident, “leaving no room to doubt,” says Car-
rick, in his “Life of Sir William Wallace,” *that
either the two authors must have drawn their mate-
rials from the same source, or that Henry, having
heard Wyntoun’s version of the story, considered it
80 near the original as to leave little to be corrected.”
Henry himself says that his poem is a true rendering
of the “fayr Latyn” of “ Maister Blayr,” chaplain or
companion to Waillace :—
B
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~ % Off Wallace Iyff quha has a forthar feill,
May schaw furth mair with wit and eloquence,
For I to this haiff don my diligence,
Lftyr the pruff geffvn fra the Latyn buk,
Quhilk Maister Blair in his tym undyrtuk,
In fayr Latyn compild it till ane end ;
‘With thir witnes the mar is to commend.
Byschop Synclar than lord was of Dunkell,
He gat this buk, and confirmed it himsell,
For werray trew; thar off he had no dreid,
Himself had seen great part of Wallace deid.
His purpos was till have send it to Rom,
And fadyr off kyrk tharon to gyff his dom.
But Maister Blayr, and als Sir Thomas Gray,
Eftir Wallace thai lestit mony day,
Thir twa knew best off gud Schir Wilyhamy's deid,
Fra senteyn yir quhill nyne and twenty yeid,
Fourty and fyve off age Wallace was cauld,
That tym that he was to [the] Southeroun sauld.
I suld hawe thank, sen I nocbt trawaill spared
For my labour na man hecht me reward;
Na charge I had off King nor othir lord;
Gret harm I thocht his gud deid suld be smord.
I haiff sed her ner as the process gais;
And fenyeid nocht for friendschip nor for fais.”

It does not appear that the author was in any way
indebted to the family of Wallace for his informa-
tion. On the contrary, he only alludes to them by
way of apology for a misstatement into which he
was led :—
““Bot in a poynt, I grant, I said amyss,
Thir twa knychtis suld blamyt be for this,

The knycht Wallas, off Craggé rychtowys lord,
And Liddaill als, gert me mak [wrang] ecord.
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On Allyrtoun mur the crown he tuk a day,

To get battaill, as myn autor will say.

Thir twa gert me say that ane othir wyss;

Till Maister Blayr we did sum part off dispyss.”

The statement of Henry thus bears the innate
stamp of truth upon it. The Latin history of Wal-
lace by Blair is not extant; but that it existed no
one can doubt.* The passage in Wyntoun amounts
to a proof of this. Besides, there was no occasion
for the author inventing such a story. It would
have been sufficient authority for him that he em-
bodied such facts as he might have found in Fordun,
and the narratives which were everywhere current
of the amazing deeds of Wallace. No such length
of time had elapsed as to render these fabulous, and
many persons living could have set the Bard right
where his information was at fault.

Very little is known as to the patriotic author
of “Wallace” himself, and for that little we are
indebted to Major, the historian, who says:—
“ Henry, who was blind from his birth, in the time
of my infancy, composed the whole book of William

* Thomas Chalmers, author of a “ History of the House of
Douglas,” speaks as if he had seen the work of Blair. In refer-
ence to Blind Harry’s version, he says, “It is paraphrastically
*turned into English rhyme, the interpreter expressing the main
body of the story very truly ; howsomever, missing or mistaking
some circumstances.” Arnaldi Blair, whose Relationes (1327)
have been published by Sir Robert Sibbald, is made to assume
the title of chaplain to the knight of Ellerslie; but his statements
have evidently been made up from Fordun, and they could not
be the source from whence the Minstrel obtained his information,
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Wallace; and committed to writing, in vulgar
poetry, in which he was well skilled, the things that
were commonly related of him. For my own part,
I give only partial credit to writings of this descrip-
tion. By the recitation of these, however, in the
presence of men of the highest rank, he procured, as
he indeed deserved, food and raiment.” This is
perhaps as candid and kind a notice of the Minstrel
as conld well be expected from one who wrote in the
language of the learned. He did not mean that the
poetry of Henry was vulgar, though he wrote in the
vulgar or vernacular language—nay, he positively
says that in that kind of composition he was well
skilled. Major does not seem to have known that
Henry drew his facts from Blair’s MS., and believing
what he states, that he committed to writing “the
things commonly related of him,” we need- not
wonder at his caution in saying that he gave “only
partial credit to writings of this description.” He
describes Henry as a minstrel, but certainly one of
the highest rank. Major is supposed to have been
born in 1469, consequently Henry composed his
“ Wallace” about 1470, or a few years later.

The fact of Henry being a minstrel and blind, no
doubt tended to detract from the poem as a work of
authority. But there is no good ground for this, in
so far as the main facts are concerned. He is al-
lowed to have had more poetical talent than either
Barbour or Wyntoun, and perhaps his genius may
bave beightened the colouring of what he depicts,
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But although the scepticism of Major has been fol-
lowed in modern times by such ecritics as Lord
Hailes, it is certainly gratifying to find a growing
disposition at last to rank Henry as an authority,
side by side with Barbour and Wyntoun. His
blindness, and the necessity of employing an aman-
uensis, seemed much against him ; and certainly, in
some passages, his verses lack the polish or accuracy
of expression which probably would not otherwise
have marred them ; this may be owing to errors of
transcription, but his case is by no means without a
parallel. At the close of the same century was born
Robert Wauchop, a younger son of the Laird of
Niddrie-Merschell. He was blind, or nearly so,
from his birth, yet rose to be Archbishop of Armagh,
and one of the Pope’s Legates. He was esteemed
one of the most able men of his time, whether as a
divine or an ambassador. He was present at the
celebrated Council of Trent, and published a full
account of its protracted sittings. He died in 1551,
All his learning was acquired through the verbal
communication of others, there being no books for
the blind in those days.

The late Dr Jamieson’s edition of “The Bruce,”
and “ Wallace,” printed from MSS. respectively of
1488 and 1489, by Dean Ramsay, now in the Advo-
cates’ Library, did much to place the author of
“Wallace ” in his proper position as an authority.
This work appeared in 1820. Not only is the poem
carefully revised, but the introduction and notes all
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tend to confirm the main statements of the Minstrel
But, in addition to this, the “ Wallace Papers,” con-
tributed by Joseph Stevenson of Durham, one of the
Sub-Commissioners of Public Records, and published
by the Maitland Club in 1841, prove, by documents
which he has brought to light, that the narrative of
Blind Harry, in some of the disputed passages, is
substantially correct. One of the points most
doubted—that Wallace ever visited the Continent
—is placed beyond doubt by a letter recommending
Wallace, from Philip of France, addressed to his
agents in Rome. Philip, who was anxious to conclude
a peace with Edward at this time, seems to have
played fast and loose with Wallace and his country:
and though he did not hand him over to Edward,
as he once proposed, Scotland, like Flanders, was
excluded from the treaty between erowned heads.

Another point warmly contended against by Lord
Hailes—the betrayal of Wallace by Menteith—is
set at rest by documents in the Chapter House,
which shew that £1100 of sterling money was given
for the capture of the hero,* and of this sum £100
was expended in the purchase of land as a reward
for Menteith. In short, the terms of the sentence
pronounced against Wallace, which is given at length
in the publication by the Maitland Club, contain in
themselves a sort of general outline of the main facts
in the narrative by the Minstrel.

* This was a very considerable sum, taking the difference in
the value of money then and now.
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It is perhaps not of much importance to allude to
the social condition of the people, in relation to one
another; during the era of Wallace. Suffice it to
say, that it was pretty much the same as in other
feudal countries at the time. The baron, who held
his lands from the crown, had the right of what is
called, in law phrase, “ pit and gallows,” * and was
the king’s vassal. Those who held their lands by
charter from the baron were his vassals, and owed
him fealty. The common people were divided into
classes—the free and the unfree. The former, if they
cultivated land on their own account, were termed,
in legal documents, Lusbandi, or husbandmen; if
for hire as labourers, they were designated cotariz
or cotagit; if as hinds, the servi. The latter were
slaves, bound to the lands, with which they were
bought and sold, and could only obtain their freedom
by gift or purchase. Unlike the slaves, however,
of modern times, they were allowed to acquire pro-
perty. Wyntoun, in describing the institution of
the “ox-gang” by Alexander IIL, thus mentions
the three grades :—

“ Yhwmen, pewere Karl, or Knawe,
Dat wes of mycht an ox til hawe,
He gert that man hawe part in pluche;
Swa wes corne in his land enwche;
Swa than begowth, and eftyr lang
Of land was mesure, ane ox-gang.”

From this state of society it is evident that the

* There was a distinction in this respect between what were
termed the great and lesser barons.
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baron, or over-lord, had immense power. If circum-
stances threw him into rebellion, or if he espoused
the cause of the invader, in place of supporting that
of his country, he usually carried all his vassals and
people with him—hence it is that such traitors as
Cospatrick of Dunbar, whom Wallace was so anxious
to gain over to the national party, could do so much
mischief. There was, however, an important body
of freemen in the towns, who, even in the thirteenth
century, especially in the royal burghs, had begun
to exercise considerable influence. Yet, notwith-
standing, it is apparent that, without the co-opera-
tion of the great lords, it was impossible even for
the king himself, in emergencies, to avail himself of
the entire forces of his kingdom. The difficulties
of Wallace, either violently opposed, or not sup-
ported by most of the great barons, may easily be
conceived : and our astonishment is correspondingly
excited when we think of his having accomplished
so much.

In his time warriors like hirnself were usually
clothed in mail, light or otherwise. Common men
wore only a head-piece, a jack for the body, with
plaited sleeves. The arms were swords, spears,
dirks, bows, &c.

It may not, perhaps, be amiss to glance a little at
the state of England at the time the great struggle
commenced with Scotland. For perhaps the greater
part of a century after the advent of William the
Conqueror in 1066, a sort of agrarian war was
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maintained by the Saxons, in isolated bodies, against
their Norman oppressors, but this spirit of insub-
ordination had been extinguished long before the
cra of Edward Longshanks. The barons themselves
had found it necessary, in order to check the license
of the crown, to stand forward in the vindication of
what may be deemed popular rights. Magna Charta,
signed at Runemede by King John, in 1215, is a
proof of this. Both the lay and ecclesiastical digni-
taries were opposed to the king, and in favour of
the restoration of the old Saxon usages. It is
therefore absurd to maintain, as some writers have
recently done, in periodicals and elsewhere, that the
war of independence in Scotland was just an ex-
tension of the spirit of Saxon resistance to Norman
rule, and that the English people were not hearty
in carrying hostilities north of the Tweed. There
never was a more absurd perversion of historical
facts. The disputes between Henry IIL, who suc-
ceeded King John, and his subjects, arose chiefly
out of his evasion of the Great Charter; and had it
not been for the timely aid afforded him and his
son, Edward, by the Scottish king, Alexander IIIL,
when thirty thousand men crossed the Tweed to
assist them, it is difficult to say what might have
been the consequence. There was no sympathy
here for the Saxon in opposition to the Norman.
It is ridiculous, therefore, to say that such a feeling
nerved the arm of Wallace in the succeeding reign.
Henry, though ambitious, was a weak king. His
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son, BEdward, however, was of sterner mould, and
he carried matters with a bolder hand. He had
succeeded in reducing the Welsh to entire subjec-
tion. Ireland obeyed his royal behest; and, like
his father, he had long entertained the idea of an-
nexing Scotland to his diadem. He was also lord
of Acquitaine, in France, which he held as a vassal
of the French monarch. Edward was thus a prince
of vast possessions and power, and he must have
regarded the conquest of Scotland as a matter of
easy accomplishment, should he not succeed in gain-
ing his purpose by artifice.

It so happened, however, that his lordship in
France brought him into trouble. A dispute be-
tween some Norman and English seamen at Bayonne
gave rise to a system of piratical reprisals at sea, in
which the English were joined by the Dutch, and
great injury was sustained by the French merchant-
men. At length Philip of France summoned his
vassal, Edward I, to appear at Paris, and answer
for his offence. Declining to do so, his property of
Acquitaine was forfeited, and his castles and cities
seized by the French. Edward prepared for war
against France, (1294,) and it was his demand upon
Baliol, as his liegeman, to attend him with a Scottish
army against Philip, that thoroughly aroused that
monarch and the Scots to a sense of the position in
which he had placed the country by acknowledging
Edward as his lord-paramount. Taking advantage
of the broil with France, the Wel<h broke out into
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insurrection, but they were premature; and the
army which Edward was about to carry into France
was directed against Wales in such a manner as
speedily put down the hostile movement, Edward
inflicting a terrible retribution. The wars thus
carried on in Guienne, Wales, and Scotland drained
the exchequer so thoroughly, that he had recourse
to extraordinary levies, thus violating the Great
Charter of King John in one of its most vital prin-
ciples. At length the clergy, barons, and merchants,
who, of course, suffered the most by these exactions,
were roused to actual resistance. In 1297, when
about to lead two armies into France, the Earls of
Hereford and Norfolk refused to leave England; and
angry words passing between Edward and Norfolk,
the latter left the field, with fifteen hundred lances.
In this way Edward was repeatedly checkmated by
his barons, not only in his war with France, but in
that with Scotland—the barons refusing to grant
supplies, or to march against the enemy until their
demands were complied with. The haughty Edward
had often to bend to his subjects in emergencies of
this kind, and an extension of popular freedom was
wrung from him under the pressure of necessity.
But, these concessions obtained, his barons and their
vassals were equally hearty with the monarch in
their ambitious views of conquest. They ravaged
Scotland with a rapacity which never could have
been inflicted by a reluctant soldiery. It is impos-
sible, in short, to trace the slightest sympathy be-
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tween the inhabitants of the two countries, through-
out the whole war of independence, arising out of
any common Saxon feeling as opposed to Norman
supremacy. If there is anything discoverable at all
in the form of sympathy, it is to be found amongst
the Norman barons of both countries; not arising,
however, from any particular enmity to the people,
but simply from a desire to maintain their posses-
sions. If the war with Scotland helped to increase
and extend the liberties of England, it was simply
because it so impaired the exchequer with Edward
as to reduce him to the necessity of abridging the
privileges of the crown that he might obtain the
means of carrying out his ambitious projects. The
protracted resistance of the Scots was practically
beneficial to English liberty, but it is by no means
traceable to any common sentiment of Saxon against
Norman. So much was the pressure of the war
with Scotland felt, that Edward had to abandon, by
treaty, all that his ambition cherished in France,
that he might be able to direct the whole of his vast
resources against Scotland.
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father the Wallace family. The name, as it appears
in charters, is Walence or Waleys, and the first
Richard, or his predecessors, may have been of the
old British, or Welsh, race of Ayrshire. It is quite
a mistake to suppose that the great lords, such as
the High Steward, invariably supplanted the old
race by giving grants of the land to vassals who fol-
lowed them from England. In most cases, except
where the land was really without inhabitants, they
were merely created over-lords, the old inhabitants
still retaining their possessions.

It is thus by no means a stretched derivation of
the Wallace family to suppose that they were chiefs
of the old British tribes who had possessed lands in
Ayrshire, in the days of the somewhat fabulous
“King Cowl,” and that they became vassals of the
Stewards, in conformity with the new policy of the
times. Indeed, it is hardly possible to account
otherwise for their large possessions, and the
number of their name, in Ayrshire. If they only
appear for the first time in the latter half of the
twelfth century, is it likely they could have spread
out so widely as to hold not only Ricearton,
but the extensive heritages of Auchincruive and
Sundrum in the thirteenth? The greater portion
of both Kyle Stewart and King’s Kyle seems to have
belonged to the Wallaces. Auchincruive and Sun-
drum passed to the Cathcarts by marriage, but
there were the Wallaces of Cairnhill, Shewalton, Fail-
ford, Burnbank, Barnweil, Dundonald, Brighouse,
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Helington, Galrigs, Camceskan, Holmeston, &c.. in
Ayrshire ; and Ellerslie, Johnston, and Ferguslie,
in Renfrewshire. It is quite possible, also, that the
descent of Wallace from the old stock of the inha-
bitants, in contradistinction to the recently-settled
barons, had some influence in exciting the stern
resistance of the patriot, and drawing the people
around him. Be this as it may, Richard Walence
or Waleys is the first identified in charters as the
ancestor of the Wallace family. His castle stood
on the banks of the Irvine, at a village called Ric-
carton, near Kilmarnock, supposed to have been so
denominated from his name, Richard-toun, and to
have grown up under the protection and encourage-
ment of the manor-place. Richard is said to have
been succeeded by another Richard, of whom no-
thing is known but that he was contemporaneous
with the second Walter the Steward; but this is by
no means satisfactory, for the first Richard also
occurs in a confirmation charter to the Abbey of
Melrose by the second Walter, and the two Richards
may be one and the same. Henry Wallace, believed
to have been a younger brother of the second
Richard, acquired some lands in Renfrewshire early
in the thirteenth century; but he was more pro-
bably the son of the second Richard. Adam
Waleys, living in 1259, is said to have had two
sons, Adam and Malcolm, the first of whom sue-
ceeded him, and the second obtained Ellerslie. A
“ Genealogie of the Family of Craigie-Wallace,” in
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MS., dated 1719,* states the matter differently.
“Sir Richard,” it says, “ was son to Adam Wallace
of Riccarton. He had only one brother, Malcolm,
who gott the ffive pound land of Ellerslie, in por-
tion natural, holding by ward and releife of the
family of Riccarton, and afterwards it held in the
same manner of Craigie, after the two familys were
joined in ome.” There are some discrepancies in
names and statements by the various inquirers into
the early descent of the Wallace family, but the
above seems to be the true account, and it agrecs
with Blind Harry, who says—
¢ Schir Ranald knew weill a mar quiet sted,

Quhar Wilyham mycht be better fra their fede,

‘With his Wncle Wallus of Ricardtoun,

Schir Richard hecht, that gud knicht of renown.”
The MS. further says, “This Malcolm married Jean
Crawford, daughter to Sir Ronald Crawford of
Crosbie, Sheriff of Ayr, upon whom he begott the
amous and valiant champion Sir William Wallace
of Ellerslie, whose memorie is eterniz’d for valour
and loyality. . . . . Beyond Adam Wallace of Ric-
cartoun there is little of certainty clearly instructed,
only by fragments of writes and seals, and the rank
which it has always borne in the country. It is
reputed to be amongst the antientest familys con-
tained in one name within the Kingdom of Scotland.”
Malcolm of Ellerslie had three sons, Sir Malcolm,

* Charter-chest of the Wauchopes of Niddrie-Merschell. This
genealogy is similar in substance to the account printed in the
% Wallace Tapers.”
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Sir William, (the hero of Scotland,) and Jokn. Some
genealogists call the eldest son Andrew, on the
authority of Fordun, but the Minstrel uniformly
styles him Malcolm, and we are inclined to think
he is right, the eldest son being generally named after
the father. He is also said to have been killed,
along with his father, in a skirmish with the Eng-
lish ; but Wyntoun affirms differently—

¢ His eldare brodyre the herytage

Had, and joyced in his dayis;”

so that, according to this author, although he may
have been slain by the English, it must have been
subsequently to the death of his father. John, the
younger son, was executed by the English in 1307.

Sir William Wallace was born before the demise
of Alexander IIL; and Carrick presumes that he was
thirty-five years of age when betrayed in 1305. If
so, it follows that he must have been born about
1270. Blind Harry says he was called forty-five
when executed, but this is inconsistent with other
passages of the poem, and Carrick supposes it to
have been an error of the scribe in writing forty in
place of ¢hirty. He would thus have reached the age
of twenty-seven before he appears in history. The
point, however, is still doubtful.

It is said, upon the authority of Fordun, that the
early years of Wallace were spent with an uncle, a
wealthy ecclesiastic at Dunipace, by whom his mind
was richly stored with the classic literature of the
time. Blind Harry says nothing of this circum-

C
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stance. After the surrender of the Six Guardians
of Scotland on the 11th of June 1291, Edward
assumed the character of Lord-paramount of Scot-
land, and issued an edict demanding the universal
homage of the people. Determined to risk all
penalties rather than bend to the usurper, Sir
Malcolm Wallace of Ellerslie fled with his eldest
son to the fastnesses of the Lennox, Dumbartonshire,
and his lady proceeded with the youthful hero to the
house of an aged relative, Crawford of Kilspindie,
in Gowry, by whom she was well received. Nothing
is said by Blind Harry of the younger son, John,
but possibly he was at Kilspindie also.

_ While his mother resided at Kilspindie, Wallace
was sent to the school at Dundee. Schools at that
time were attached to the monasteries, or -other re-
ligious houses, and were designed wholly for the
education of such of the upper classes as chose to
take advantage of them, and for ecclesiastics and
other professional persons. If Carrick is correct in
his estimate of the age of Wallace ‘at his death, he
must have been twenty years of age at this time,
which is rather inconsistent with the manner in
which Blind Harry speaks of “hys tendyr age.” The
probability is that he was some years younger; for
afterwards, when he

“In armys syne did mony hie waslage,’”

the Minstrel describes him as of age “but auchtene
yer auld.”* While at the school of Dundee, it is

* The editor of the Perth edition of Wallace guesses his age
to have been sixtecen.
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said that he became acquainted with John Blair,
his future chaplain and historian.

At this time Edward held cruel sway over Scot-
land. His soldiers invaded all the garrison towns,
and exercised thé most wanton tyrannies. Blind
Harry tells us that Wallace often pondered on the
state of his country,

“ Gret pitte thocht that Scotland tuk sic harmys,”

and often to himself did “mak his mayne.” As to
his having “{ormed an association among his fellow-
students for the purpose of defending themselves,
and restraining the wanton outrages of the intru-
ders,” it seems apocryphal enough;* but that the
people were frequently insulted by the overbearing
soldiers may be readily conceived. ~Wallace himself
had been “richt offt in stryff” with the enemies of
his country, and as he always wore a sword and
dagger, not a few of them had bitten the dust.
Proceeding to Dundee on one occasion, it was his
fortune to be assailed by the son of Governor Selby, 1

* According to the * Statistical Account of Scotland,” Blair and
Sir Neil Campbell of Lochow were amongst his companions at
Dundee. This is probable. The Campbells of Argyle were
warm supporters of the national cause.

*+ Selby, of Cumberland, succeeded Gilbert de Umfraville as
governor of the castles of Dundee and Forfar. Umfraville was
descended from a kinsman of William the Conqueror, and having
obtained a grant of the possessions of Ingram de Baliol, both ir
England and. Scotland, became Earl of Angus. He refused to
deliver up the castles of Dundee and Forfar, at the command of
Edward, on the ground that they had been received in charge from
the Scottish Regency, unless Edward and the Regency joined in
sn obligation of indemnity, which was given.— Dugdule.
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a young man of nearly twenty years of age. The
governor himself had become odious by his rapa-
city, and the son was equally overbearing and
despiteful. He was accompanied by four men, who
went with him, as Blind Harry says, to play. The
appearance of Wallace on this occasion is well de-
scribed :—

“Sad of contenance, he was bathe auld and ying,*
Littill of spech, wyss, curtas, and benymg

Likle he was, ncht byge a.nd weyle beseyne,

Intill a gyde+ of gudly ganand greyne.”
Our youthful hero was thus attired in a goodly suit
of fashionable green, with sword and dagger by his
side. He was speedily assailed by young Selby,
who haughtily addressed him—

“Thou Scot, abyde,

Qubha deuill the grathis in so gay a gyde?

Ane ersche mantill it war thi kynd to wer,

A Scottis theutill 1 wndyr thi belt to ber;

Rouch rewlyngis apon thi harlot fate.

Giff me thi knyff; quhat dois thi ger 8o mete?”
So saying he stepped forward to layhold of the dagger,
but Wallace, seizing him by the collar, slew him on
the spot. Instantly flying, he was pursued by
Selby’s attendants, and others of the English at-
tempted to intercept him ; but he bore down all
opposition, and reached the house where his uncle

* This accords precisely with the portrait of Wallace at
Niddrie-Merschell, of which a copy forms the frontispiece to this
work.

+ Garb. % Whittle, or knife-
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had formerly lodged, the goodwife of which arrayed
him in woman’s attire, and he sat down to spin.
The ruse proved effectual; the English soldiery
searched the premises, little dreaming that the
stalwart kimmer at the wheel was “the wicht
Wallace.” *

By the assistance of his kind hostess our hero was
guided up the water (the Dee) at nightfall, and found
his way in safety to Kilspindie. On learning what
had happened, his friends became alarmed lest his
whereabouts might be discovered, and it was deemed
prudent that he and his mother should seek some
other place of shelter. Disgunised as pilgrims, they
set out on foot, not as Carrick says, on a positive
pilgrimage to St Margaret’s at Dumfries, but pro-
fessedly so, with the view of concealing their real
intention. St Margaret (Queen of Malcolm Caen-
more) was of the royal line of England, and sufficiently
commanded the respect of the English soldiery.
The travellers passed through the Ochils, by Dun-
fermline and Linlithgow, to Dunipace, where they
were received with great kindness, and invited to
stay until better might betide.

It is probable that here Wallace and his mother

* Lord Hailes, with his usual fastidiousness, doubted this
adventure of Wallace at Dundee, although Buchanan narrates
the circumstance in “classic Latin.” He might as well have
questioned any other event in the history of Wallace. It is
questioned because Bower, the continuator of Fordun, takes no
notice of it. The circumstance assuredly lay more in the way of
Blair, or the Minstrel, than either of the historians mentioned.
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learnt for the first time the unfortunate rencontre
at Loudon Hill, in Ayrshire, between Sir Malcolm
‘Wallace of Ellerslie, at the head of a few of his re-
tainers, and a party of English under Fenwick. Sir
Malcolm was slain, and, according to Blind Harry,
his eldest son also. Probably excited by this intel-
ligence, and aware that the country was astir,
Wallace and his mother declined the offered hospi-
tality of their host. “Our kyne ar slayne,” said
Wallace, and “will God I lieffe, we sall ws wreke
our part.”

From Dunipace they proceeded to Ellerslie, where
they were met by Sir Ronald Crawford of Crosbie,
his mother’s brother. He had the protection of
Percy, governor of Ayr, and she solicited him to
purchase peace for them also, as “scho couth no
forthir fle.” Wallace, however, would not accept
of this respite, and, leaving his mother at Ellerslie,
proceeded with his uncle to “a mar quiet sted,” at
his uncle’s, Sir Richard of Riccarton. It is rather
singular that Carrick omits this visit to Riccarton
altogether. It cannot be that the incident which
arose out of it was less ¢ characteristical ” than
others which he relates.

The castle of Riccarton stood on a gentle emin-
ence near the Irvine water, which, having changed
its course somewhat in modern times, then ran pretty
close to its base. In consequence of the marriage
of John Wallace of Riccarton, grandson of the uncle
of Wallace, with the heiress of Craigie, a neighbour-
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tng property, Craigie Castle became in future the
principal residence of the family, so that the old
fortalice of Riccarton was allowed to go prematurely
to decay. Though not a stone of it now stands,
the site is still discernible, and part of the orchard,
with some very old trees, yet exists. Old Richard
‘Wallace, the owner of the heritage of Ricecarton, is
described by the Minstrel as blind from the effects
of war,
“ Yeit he was wiss and of his counseil gud.”

Young Wallace was here in February, (1292,) and he
found it necessary to decamp the following month.
Respecting his fishing adventure on Irvine water,
which some affect to treat as romance, the Minstrel
is more particular than he is wont. 1In April, “the
three and twenty day,” he left the castle to amuse
himself fishing in the Irvine. He was unarmed,
and unaccompanied save by a little boy to “leide
his net.” He was very successful, having taken fish
abundantly; and by ten o’clock there came past, not
far from where he stood, the Lord Percy and a
numerous retinue, on their way to Glasgow Fair.
If this story were a fiction, the Minstrel must have
been perfectly acquainted with the locality ; for the
highway still in use, between Ayr, Kilmarnock, and
(lasgow, ran within a few yards of Riccarton Castle ;
and the Irvine was crossed by a ford, there having
been no bridge over the river till so late as about
1724. An old thorn-bush, removed only a few
years ago, used to be pointed out as the scene of
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the scuffle we are about to describe. Percy and his
court having stopped to look at Wallace and his
fishing operations, five of the party, “cled into
ganand greyne,” rode out from the rest, and de-
manded “Martyn’s fysche” * from the Scot in a
very haughty manner. Wallace answered civilly,
and ordered the boy to give him a portion; but
the haughty Southron would not have them of his
dealing, and, lighting down, took the whole from the
child. Wallace prayed him, if he was a gentleman,
to leave part, because

“ Ane agyt knycht séruis our lady to-day.” +
3 y

The Southron answered that he should have leave
to fish and take more ; but that, as for these, he
served a lord, and they must go to him. Wallace,
somewhat provoked, said, “ Thou art in the wrang.”
“ Quham thowis thow, Scot?” said the Englishman,
drawing and rushing upon Wallace. The latter had
no weapon save the “poutstaff,” a pole used in fish-
ing with the net. With this instrument he felled
his opponent to the earth, and the sword flying out
of his hand, he seized it, and immediately slew him.
He was then set upon by the other four, two of
whom he also succeeded in laying prostrate, and the
other two fled after Percy, who, by this time, was
considerably on his way through the muir. On
learning what had happened, Percy is said to have
treated his defeated followers very scornfully for

* Tt was the time of Lent. + No doubt alluding to his uncle.
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allowing themselves to be put to such confusion by
a single individual, and refused to return in search
of him. On acquainting his uncle with what had
occurred, it was deemed prudent that Wallace should
no longer remain at Riccarton. Having replenished
his purse, and kindly inviting him to apply for more
when necessary, he took leave of his aged relative,
refusing, at the same time, to allow any of “hys
emys sonys ” to accompany him.

Young Wallace, “in pryss of arms,” and prompted
to madness by the loss of his friends, rode straight
to Auchincruive, on the banks of the Ayr, about
two miles further up the river than the burgh of
that name. It belonged to Sir Duncan Wallace,
who also possessed Sundrum, an estate on the banks
of the Coyl, in King’s Kyle. The precise relation-
ship of Sir Duncan to the baron of Riccarton is by
no means clearly established by genealogists, but
that they were of the same family is unquestion-
able* He was well received by Auchincruive, and
the Laglane wood, in the vicinity, which still bears
the name, often sheltered him from his enemies.

* According to the old genealogy already referred to, he was
the brother of the Laird of Riccarton, their mother being ¢
Bruce, daughter to the Earle of Carrick.” They may have been
brothers, but their mother could not have been a Bruce of the
Carrick branch, because Adam de Kilconcath, first husband of
the Countess of Carrick, mother of Robert the Bruce, died only
in 1270. She may have been a De Carrick, however, of the race
of the old Earls of Carrick, through whom the properties of
Auchincruive and Sundrum were probably derived.
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Desirous, upon one occasion, of seeing the town
of Ayr, “his child * with him, as than na man had
he,” he left his horse at the Laglane wood, and pro-
ceeded on foot to “the markat corss.” The Percy and
his soldiers held the Castle of Ayr, and ruled with a
high hand over the depressed inhabitants. Amongst
other modes of exhibiting their superiority over the
Scots, in conformity with the spirit of the times, a
churl of huge dimensions boasted that he would lift
more than any two of them, and for a groat offered
to allow any one to strike him-on the back as hard
as he could, with a “sasteing in a boustous poile,”
which he carried with him for the purpose. The
precise nature of this sasteing Dr Jamieson has not
been able very clearly to explain, but it may be ex-
pressed in Scottish as a rung of considerable dimen-
sions. Wallace was delighted with this species of
sport, and proffered him his “grottis thre” for a
single blow. It was at once accepted, and seizing
“the steing” (stang, a pole, or rung) dealt the carl
such a blow that he fell dead with his back broken.
‘Wallace was instantly surrounded by a host of en-
raged Englishmen, amongst whom, first with the
steing and subsequently with his sword, he laid
about him so stoutly that he left five of them dead
on the street, and gaining his horse at Laglane wood,
though pursued by horse and foot, he reached Auch-
incruive in safety.

Longing again to visit the town, he found the
servant of his uncle, the Sheriff of Ayr, about to be

* By “his child ” is meant a page or attendant,
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denuded by the Percy’s steward of certain fish he
had purchased for his master. Importuned by the
servant, Wallace entreated the steward to leave the
man alone, but he answered in scorn, and smote
Wallace on the back with his hunting-staff. Wal-
lace instantly slew him with his dagger, but the fray
brought so many of the English upon our young
hero, that, after a protracted struggle, in which seven
of his opponents were killed, he was overpowered
and taken prisoner. Lodged in the old jail of Ayr,*
which stood on the High Street, immediately above
the Fish Cross, he was fed on “barrell herying and
wattir,” till he became so ill that, to all appearance,
he was dead. The English then threw him over the
prison wall into a draff midden, where he lay till
“his fyrst noryss, (nurse,) of the Neutoun of Ayr,”
came to see his body, and obtained leave to have him
conveyed to her own house. Here the nurse and
her daughter attended him with marvellous kind-
ness, care,-and secresy, until his entire recovery.

* A portion of the wall of this old building still exists, we
believe, in connexion with the shops which now occupy the site.
A house at the corner of New Market Street, built on a portion
of the ground once included in the boundary of the jail, has a
statue of Wallace. It was put up by the proprietor, Mr Cowan,
in commemoration of the hero and his imprisonment. And he
did this patriotic action, prompted by the fact that an effigy,
or head of Wallace, had previously occupied a niche in the wall
of the old prison-house, which he had to pull down before erect-
ing the new building. Whether the head of the present effigy
is a copy of the former one, we cannot say, but that such a relic
existed there at all seems in so far to countenance the statement
of Blind Harry,
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Carrick passes over this serious adventure. It is,
no doubt, somewhat marvellous, yet the Minstrel
relates it with great precision, and evidently with a
full belief in its truth. It is quite probable, how-
ever, that he may have taken a poetical licence with
the main facts. Amongst other corroborative cir-
cumstances, he menfions the curious incident that
Thomas the Rhymer was staying at Faile Monastery
with the minister at the time :—

“Thomas Rimour in to the Faile was than,
‘With the mynystir, quhilk was a worthi man ;
He wsyt offt to that religious place.”

This passage, as appears from Dr Jamieson’s notes,
has been strangely misunderstood, having been
printed, so early as 1594, “Thomas Rymour, with
outtn faill, was than,” &c., the printer evidently not
knowing that there was such a religious house as
Faile in Ayrshire; and the passage is interesting as
shewing the antiquity of the Red Friars there, the
head of whom was styled minister.*

Having learned all about the fate of Wallace from
a servant of the monastery, Thomas the Rhymer
proceeded to the nurse’s house in the Newtown of
Ayr, where he saw and conversed joyfully with the
future champion of Scotland, of whom he prophe-
sied—

“Forsuth, or he decess,

Mony thousand in feild sall mak thar end,
Off this regioun he sall the Southron send ;

* The Kirk of Fail is mentioned in a charter by Robert II. to
James de Lindsay.
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And Scotland thriss he sall bryng to the pess:

So gud off hand agayne sall neuir be kend.”
When sufficiently recovered, Wallace, armed with an
old sword, which he found in the house of his kind
nurse, betook him to Riccarton, where he might
have himself supplied afresh with a horse, armour,
and money. The nurse and her daughter, to whom
he owed his life, were sent to his mother at Ellers-
lie. On his way to Riccarton, he was assailed by
Squire Longcastle, who, with two attendants, had
been at Glasgow. In self-defence, for Longcastle
was resolved to take him back to Ayr, Wallace slew
the Squire and one of his men, the other taking to
flight.

Our hero met with a warm reception at Riccarton,
from old Sir Richard and his three sons. Sir Ron-
ald from Corsbie, his mother from Ellerslie, and
“gud Robert Boyd,” were also there, all overjoyed
at his escape.®

* The whole of these adventures, including the slaughter of
young Selby at Dundee, must have occurred, we should think,
between the 11th June 1291, when the Scottish regents surren-
dered the fortresses to Edward, and the 30th November 1292,
when Baliol was crowned, and the fortresses restored. Lord
Percy appears to have been governor of Ayr and Wigton, con-
temporaneously with Selby of Dundee. When new governors
were appointed by Edward, after the battle of Dunbar, which
laid Scotland at his feet for the time, Henry de Percy, nephew
of the Earl of Warrenne, held the same office. From November
1292, when Baliol was crowned, till that monarch renounced his
allegiance to the English ecrown in 1295, Wallace had no occasion
to meet with the English, and must have lived in retirements
In 1292, he would hardly be twenty years of age,
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CHAPTER IIL

RETROSPECT OF EVENTS-—BATTLE OF LOUDON HILL—THE BUCKLER-
PLAYER AT AYR. k

By adventures of this kind, and a display of extra-
ordinary personal prowess and hardihood, the name
of Wallace became notable among the people of
Ayrshire. Deeds of blood were by no means con-
genial to his nature. The Minstrel says—

“ Off cruelness full litill thai him kend ;”
but his feelings of patriotism were wrought up to
an unnatural pitch by the overbearing indignities
exercised by Edward’s soldiers, and the slaughter of
his own father and other friends.

It may be necessary, however, before proceeding
further with our “process,” as the Minstrel some-
times calls his narrative, to revert to what was
going on in a national sense. Edward Longshanks,
in his capacity of arbiter, decided in favour of the
claims of Baliol, who received the Scottish crown
and swore fealty to the royal umpire, as his liege
lord, 20th November 1292. On the 30th of the
same month he was crowned at Scoon; and he
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rgain swore fealty at Newcastle on the 26th De-
cember,

It is well known how the crown proved indeed a
“crown of thorns” to poor Baliol—how he was
harassed by summonses from the Lord-paramount
to attend the English courts; how demands were
made upon him to supply Scottish troops to fight
the battles of Edward on the Continent ; and how,
driven to’ desperation, he not only negotiated a
treaty of mutual aid with Philip of France, but,
with the sanction of the Scottish Parliament, made
a solemn renunciation of the homage exacted by Ed-
ward. This occurred on the 5th April 1296. Well
aware what the result of such a step would be,
the Scots, with a unanimity which showed the deep
sense of national injury under which they laboured,
marched a numerous army for the invasion of the
north of England. They crossed into Cumberland
on the 26th March 1296, assaulted Newecastle, and
set fire to the town, but were compelled to retreat.
Entering Northumberland, on the 8th April, they
plundered Lanercost and Hexham, but retired in
disorder from before Harbottle.

Scotland had not been at war since the battle of
Largs in 1263 ; therefore, however excellent the
material of their army might be in men and equip-
ment, it wanted those chief qualities to insure suc-
cess—discipline and experience. In this respect it
was greatly inferior to the army of Edward, which
he speedily assembled at Berwick. His warriors had
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been trained in the wars of the Continent, and had
greatly the advantage. Notwithstanding, at the
siege of Berwick, eighteen of his ships were destroy-
ed, and the troops, led on by himself, in a state of
exasperation at the loss of his vessels, were repulsed.
They only succeeded in the second attack by a stra-
tagem. The cruelty which he exercised on the
inhabitants, against whom he let loose his soldiery,
is a lasting stain on his character. According to
Wyntoun, seventeen thousand were butchered. The
work of slaughter was put an end to by an incident
which the chronicler thus relates :—

¢ Thus they slayand ware sa fast,

All the day, till at the last,

This kyng Edward saw in that tyde

A woman slain, and of her syde

A bairn he saw fall out sprewland,

Besyde that woman slayne lyand;

¢ Lasses,* lagses,’ then cried he,

¢ Leve off, leve off,’ that word suld be.”
At the battle of Dunbar, which immediately followed,
(28th April) and where the Earl of Warren and
Burrey commanded, the Scottish troops were broken
in their ill-timed and tumultuous attack on the
English ranks, and defeat, as might have been ex-
pected, was the consequence.

Upon this occasion, as upon all others where
England and Scotland contended in subsequent
times, there was not wanting treachery, The Min-
strel says of Edward—

* From lasser, fatizue,
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% To Corspatryk of Dunbar sone he send,
His consell ast, for he [the] contre kend :
And he was brocht in presence to the king,
Be suttale band thai cordyt of this thing.”

The Minstrel attributes the fall of Berwick and
the loss of Dunbar to this man’s defection, although
it is more than probable, considering the power of
Edward, that he would have succeeded at any rate
He was Earl of March, one of the disappointed com-
petitors for the crown, who, rather than be subject
to Baliol, was ready to transfer his allegiance to
Edward. He was long popularly known as the
betrayer of his country on this occasion, and is
derided as such in the “Flyting of Dunbar and
Kennedy.” Sir Richard Siward, governor of Dun-
bar Castle, (which had been given up to Baliol by
Cospatrick’s more patriotic lady,) was hardly less cul-
pable, in agreeing to surrender it to Warren within
the space of three days, if not relieved. Many of the
Scottish troops took shelter in it as they fled from
the field of Dunbar, but met a cruel fate when the
Castle was immediately afterwards delivered to the
English. Amongst the prisoners were the Earls of
Athol, Ross, and Monteith, Siward* was one of

* From the narrative of Peter Langtoft, it is evident that he
nad had a private understanding with the English for some
time :—

¢ A knycht was tham among, Sir Richard Seward,
Tille our faith was he long, and with kyng Edward,
Tille our men he com tite, and said, the Scottis wiide
Thre dayes haf respite, and than the castelle zelde,

o)
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those Northumberland chiefs who had obtained
lands in Scotland, and cared as little for the inde-
pendence of the one country as the other. Ten
thousand Scots were slain at the battle of Dunbar
Baliol, after a degrading feudal penance, was coms
mitted, along with his son, to the Tower in London,
and many of the Scottish nobility were sent into
England in chains.

Prior to the invasion of Scotland, it is said, on
the authority of Fordun, that Edward had secured
the co-operation of the Brucian party, by promising
to place the son of the competitor on the throne of
Scotland, in place of the rebellious Baliol. Bruce
and his adherents consequently fought against the
national party at this time. After the victory of
Dunbar, he reminded Edward of his promise :—
“What!” said the haughty monarch, “ have I no
other business but to conquer kingdoms for you ?”
Bruce retired in silence, and is understood to have
afterwards lived in retirement on his English estates.
His son, Robert the Bruce, became Earl of Carrick,
by virtue of his mother’s title, and seems to have
acted chiefly on his own responsibility. He would
be about twenty-three years of age at this time.

After the triumph at Dunbar, Edward, whose
forces were renewed by fifteen thousand men from
Wales and thirty thousand from Ireland, made a

To the Baliol suld their send, ther castelle to rescue,
Bi that bot he vs mend with for zow to renue
The castelle ze sall have, without any delay.”
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progress of twenty-one weeks throughout Scotland.
He went north as far as Elgin, and on this occasion
enacted a similar policy to that of sacrificing the
minstrels in Wales, by destroying the national
records, and carrying away the Liafaile, or fatal
stone of Scoon, which still remains in Westminster
Hall. On his departure he appointed John Warren,
Larl of Surrey, lieutenant or guardian of the king-
dom ; Hugh de Cressingham, an ecclesiastic, trea-
surer; William Ormesby, justiciary; Henry de Percy,
nephew of Warren, keeper of the county of Gal-
loway and sheriffdom of Ayr; and Robert de Clif-
ford, warden of the eastern districts. Walter de
Agmondesham was made chancellor, with a new
seal, the old great seal of Scotland, surrendered by
Baliol, having been broken in pieces.

Carrick presumes “that both Wallace and his
brother were present at the battle of Dunbar.” But
this rests solely on the idea that Wyntoun is correct
in stating that Sir Malcolm outlived his father, and
that his death, from the circumstances, could have
occurred nowhere else. But the Minstrel, in de-
scribing the skirmish at Loudoun Hill, and speaking
of Fenwick, plainly says—

“ He had at dede off Wallace fadyr beyne,
And his brodyr that douchty was and der.”

The Minstrel and Wyntoun are thus decidedly op-
posed, and which is right it is difficult to decide;
except that subscquently certain passages of the
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Minstrel lead us to believe that he succeeded his
father.

Whether at the battle of Dunbar or not, it is
extremely probable, as Carrick supposes, that, seeing
the deficiency of the Scottish troops in the art of
war, and resolved that the usurpers of his country
should not be allowed to possess the land in peace,
he conceived the design of carrying on a species of
guerilla warfare, and proceeded to arrange his plans
accordingly. Unless prepared in this way, it is
difficult to conceive how bands of well-armed men
should have so promptly attended to his rallying-
note in various quarters of the country. This, how-
ever, was no doubt the work of time, as his fame as
a leader began to spread, more than the result of
any well-devised scheme. Under the circumstances,
in short, no such scheme could have been so gener-
ally and immediately acted upon.

The Minstrel represents our hero as still at Ric-
carton after his last and nearly fatal adventure at
Ayr ; but he opens “Buke Thryd ” as if a consider-
able period had elapsed in the “process” of his
story. He very poetically describes “joyowss Julii,”
(in the summer of 1296,) and the bounty of Nature.

“Bot Scotland sa was waistit mony day,
Throw wer sic skaith, at labour was away;”

and a general scarcity and dearth prevailed over the
fand. The English, however, wanted for nothing—
both victual and wine belng supplied abundanfly by
carriage.
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Bent on his purpose of revenge, Wallace at length
took leave of Riccarton. Sir Richard, his uncle,
had three sons—Adam, Richard, and Symon*—the
oldest of whom, large in person, and “auchtene yer
of age,” accompanied him. Robert Boyd, Kneland,
“ner cusyng to Wallace,” and “ Edward Litill, his
sistir sone so der,” constituted the small band of
patriots. “Weill graithit in till thar armur cler,”
they rode, accompanied by their servants, also in
arms, to Mauchline Muir. &+ There they had not
remained long when they were informed by their
friends, who were “bound undir trewage,” (an ex-
pression on the part of the Minstrel which shows
that there had been previous concert,) that Fen-
wick, the officer under whom Wallace’s father had
met his death, was on his way from Carlisle, with
a convoy for Percy, at Ayr. Wallace was greatly
pleased with this information, and resolved to inter-
cept him,  For this purpose they proceeded to
Loudoun, having about fifty in their company, and
took up their position in a wood, for it was near
night. An hostler at Loudoun, a true Scot, who
brought the party meat and drink, told them that
“thair forrydar] was past till Ayr agayne,” from

* This does not agree with the ‘“genealogie” formerly men-
tioned, which makes Sir Duncan of Sundrum brother to Adam
of Riccarton. The Wallaces of Sundrum must have branched
off from Riccarton at an earlier period.

t This was rather a famous place of warlike muster, in pre-

vious as well as later tines.
1 Fore-rider.
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which they inferred the main “carriage” would be
in Avondale. ‘From Loudoun Shaw the party pro-
ceeded to Loudoun Hill, in “the gray dawning”
next morning, and there made their arrangements
to await the coming convoy, which they were in-
formed by their servants was approaching fast.
The Minstrel gives a good description of Wallace
and his armour at this period. Ever since his im-
prisonment in Ayr, he says, he daily wore “good
sure weid: "—

“Qude lycht harness, fra that tyme wsyt he euir;
For sodyn stryff, fra it he wald nocht seuir.
A habergione undyr his goune he war,
A steylle capleyne in his bonet but mar;
His glowis of plaitin claith war couerit weil,
In his doublet a close coler of steyle;
His face he kepit, for it was euir bar,
‘With his twa handis, the quhilk full worthi war;
In to his weid, and he came in a thrang,
‘Was na man than on fute mycht with him gang.
So growane in pith, off power stark and stur,
His terryble dyntis war awfull till endur.
Thai trast mar in Wallace him alane,
Than in a hundreth mycht be off England tayne.” *

% Of the comparative prowess of Wallace and Bruce, both
Miss Porter and Carrick quote a passage from Boece, relating
the conversation which James I. had in 1430, with an aged
widow of one of the Lords of Kinnoul, on the subject. She
described Bruce as a man of fine appearance, and of such power
as could easily overcome any other man of his time ; but he
was excelled by Wallace, in so far as he excelled other men. In
wrestling, Wallace could have overcome two such men as Bruce.
No great reliance is to be placed on the statement of Boece,
still it is probably no unfair estimate of the powers of the re-
gpective warriors. The ¢ habergoine,” or armour for the breast
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Kneeling down, the small band of patriots offered
ap prayers, and having been shortly addressed by
Wallace, in reference to the slaughter of his father,
they finally awaited the advance of the English, who,
by this time, were passing Loudoun Hill. In the
early sunlight of the morning, Fenwick, who was at
the head of the convoy, with about 200 men, imme-
diately concluded that it was the outlaw, Wallace,
“that chapit (escaped) our presoune,” whom he saw
in command of the party, and he exultingly antici-
pated carrying him speedily captive to Percy.
Leaving the convoy under charge of a few men,
and the attendants on the horses, he hastened for-
ward at the head of 180 men, “in harness burnyst
brycht,” to attack the small band of patriots. The
approach was narrowed by a “maner dyk off
stanyis,” which compelled them to ride more closely ;
and to their surprise, in place of awaiting the onset,
and neck, worn by Wallace, consisted of chain and ring-mail.
It had been introduced by the Crusaders in the early part of the
reign of Alexander IIL. The ““ goune” spoken of by the Min-
strel was no doubt the surcoat, or coat of arms, which Wallace
gsometimes threw over his face, when he did not wish to be
recognised. His device was the red lion. The “ steylle capleyne”
is defined by Jamieson as “a small helmet;” but it seems
rather to have been a species of steel lining to the cap, for the
Minstrel describes it as worn ¢n his bonnet. The limbs were
usually defended by an incasement of boiled leather, with
knee-plates of iron, and guards for the shin-bones. A round or
triangular shield completed the defensive armour of the period.
Wallace fought chiefly with the sword, a two-handed one being

his favourite ; sometimes he used the mace and spear, as also the
dugger, when in close quarters.
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the Scots took the field before them, while, so far
from riding over them, as they intended, the case
happened otherwise “in that tide.”

The onset was fierce in the extreme. The Eng-
lish, on harnessed horses, rode rudely around them,
but the Scots, on foot, “gret rowme about thaim
wair.” Wallace drove his spear through the body
of the foremost rider, by which means the shaft was
broken ; but he drew his sword, and as the English
poured upon them, the Scots “schar throuch haber-
geons full gude.” On either side “full cruelly thai
dang.” Fenwick, on a great horse, “in till his glit-
terand ger,” was easily distinguishable, as enraged
he wielded his “fellone aspre sper.”” The moment
Wallace got his eye upon him he sprang forward
with the rage of a lion, clearing his way amidst the
“fell frekis” by which he was assailed. Reaching
him at length, he struck him somewhat awkwardly,
so that the knight fell on the other side of his horse,
where Boyd pierced him with a staff-sword. Before
he was dead, however, the great press came so fast
that Boyd was borne to the ground; but he was
rescued by Wallace, and the two together hewed -
their way through the thickest, followed by their
trusty adherents, Though greatly disheartened by
the fall of their leader, the English still fought
bravely under one Bowmond, “a squier of renown ;”
but he too was cut down by young Wallace of Ric-
carton ; yet many of the English dismounted, and
fought on foot. Wallace and his patriot band,
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however, conducted themselves so valiantly that
the remnant of them were at last glad to fly, which
they did on the south side, leaving one hundred
dead on the field. Amongst the Scots three only
are mentioned by the Minstrel as having been
killed. Two of them were from Kyle, and one from
Cunninghame, followers of Boyd.

The entire convoy fell to the victorious Scots:
one hundred and twenty carriage horses, with gold,
wine, and flour, and other stuffs in abundance, The
whole of the prize they led to Clydesdale Forest,
where, having been deposited in safety, the Minstrel
adds, all the English knaves* fit for war were
hanged “on the bowand treis.” The four score
soldiers who escaped from the field fled directly to
Ayr, and were the first to communicate the unwel-
come tidings of their defeat to Percy.

" This is the first recorded action fought against
the English in which Wallace had the command.}
According to Carrick, who does not give his autho-
rity, the following well known friends of Wallace
were with him—Sir Andrew Murray of Bothwell ;

* Servants, but these were different from the servi of Scottish
charters, insomuch that they were hired servants, in whom their
masters had no property, such as “ the miller’s knave,” for
example. But to suppose that the Latin term nativi, used in
charters as signifying the native inhabitants—those born on the
soil—as some antiquaries maintain, is derived from the word
knave, seems to be a very great mistake, The two words have
no radical affinity.

+ Carrick makes this battle to have been fought in 1297, Lut
it must have been in July 1296,
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Sir William Douglas, ancestor of the Douglases ;
Robert Boyd, afterwards of Kilmarnock ; Alexander
Serymgeor, hereditary standard-bearer of Scotland ;
Roger Kilpatrick of Dumfriesshire, from whom the
present Empress of France is descended ; Alexander
Auchinleck of Auchinleck (now Boswell), in Ayr-
shire ; Walter Newbigging, believed to be of Lanark-
shire ; Stephen of Ireland, supposed by Carrick and
others to have been really a native of Ireland, not
Stephen Ireland, as some have suggested—(it is
evident, however, from the Minstrel, that he was a
native of Argyleshire ;) Hugh Dundas, ancestor of
the Dundas family ; John Kneland, or Cleland of
Lanarkshire, where there were, and still are, families
of that name ; Ruthven, ancestor of the Ruthven
family ; Sir David Barclay of Lanarkshire—(he
and Newbigging had entered into a band of man-
rent, dated 20th April 1281 ;*) Adam Curry, a
descendant probably of the Curry who fought and
was slain at Largs, but their locality is not known,
unless of the Curries of that Ilk in Annandale ;
John Blair, and Thomas Gray, both ecclesiastics,
—the first probably of the Balthyock family in the
north—the latter was minister of Liberton, in Lan-
arkshire., This is a much larger company than the
few compatriots mentioned by the Minstrel, though
Carrick is probably correct.

The « Statistical Account of Scotland” mentions a
place called Beg, above Allanton, in the parish of

* Memoirs of Somerville.
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Galston, where the battle was fought. The Min-
strel, however, always speaks of it as the battle of
Loudoun Hill, and the remajns of a British fortlet,
in the time of the Romans, is supposed to have
been made use of by Wallace and his adherents
while waiting the advance of Fenwick. The battle
of Drumclog was also fought in the vicinity of Lou-
doun Hill, so that this prominent landmark, which
rises out of the surrounding plain, like a huge cone,
has been witness to the deeds of three great eras in
the history of Scotland,—the Roman invasion, the
war of independence, and the struggle for civil and
religious liberty which preceded the Revolution.

The loss of the convoy was severely felt by Percy,
whose garrison at Ayr had been reduced to very
scanty allowance. He blamed the authorities for
allowing Wallace to escape so carelessly, when they
threw him for dead over the prison walls, and spoke
of getting his supplies by sea, in place of overland
from Carlisle. Meanwhile Wallace and his com-
panions remained in Clydesdale Forest for twenty
days, no doubt contriving new plans to annoy and
harass the enemy. According to the Minstrel, no
Southron was to be seen in the neighbourhood at
that time. The noise of the skirmish at Loudoun
Hill soon spread throughout the country, and the
name of Wallace, while it alarmed the invaders,
gave new life to his oppressed countrymen.

Percy called a council of English lords and others
at Glasgow, at which, the Minstrel says, upwards of
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ten thousand persons attended. The principal ques-
tion regarded Wallace. “Sir Amar Wallange, a
falss traytour,” who lived at Bothwell,* recom-
mended that a peace or truce with him should
be entered into until they consulted Edward. Perey
observed that Wallace would not accept of their
truce, upon which Sir Aymer recommended that
the peace should be effected through the medium
of his uncle, the sheriff, whose lands should be made
responsible for his fidelity. Sir Ranald was sent
for, but he declared his inability to control Wallace.
Through the courtesy of Percy, however, a bond
was drawn up, on the part of the forces under Ed-
ward, agreeing. that Wallace should not be molested,
and the sheriff’ proceeded to Clydesdale Forest in
search of his nephew, whom he found just as he was
bound for dinner. The meeting was of the most
cordial nature, and after dining in a sumptuous

* There is some mystery in reference to this Sir Aymer de
Vallence. - The Minstrel represents him as a Scottish traitor,
who must have been a different person from the Agmer de
Vallence, Earl of Pembroke, who figures in the history of the
times at a later period. Lord Hailes was in error when he re-
presents the Minstrel as always speaking of “ Aymer de Val-
loins, Earl of Pembroke, as a false Scottish knight.” He never
once alludes to him as Earl of Pembroke ; but assuredly the
whole tenor of his narrative in reference to this person leads te
the inference that he was a Scotsman, or in some way more im-
mediately connected with Scotland than an Englishman could be
supposed to be. The suggestion of Kerr, that his country is
nowhere mentioned, is out of the question, since, if he was an

Englishman, he could not be a traitor to Edward, seeing that he
was acting in his interest.
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manner, with excellent wine, Sir Ranald broached
the subject of the peace, and counselled Wallace to
accept of it, if it were but for a brief space only,
that he might the better arrange his plans of oppo-
sition in future. Wallace was opposed to all terms
with Edward, but, on the counsel of Boyd, Adam
Wallace of Riccarton, Kneland, and others, agreed
to a short peace, so as to save his uncle from the
threatened injury. It was to last for ten months,
Under this protection, which began in August 1296.
each proceeded to his own home, and Wallace and
his uncle took their way for Corsbie.

After remaining for some time inactive at Cors-
bie, Wallace, tired of such a monotonous life, re-
paired one day to Ayr, to see what was going on in
the county town. He covered his face so that he
might not be known. On the High Street he stood
by and saw an Englishman playing “at the scrym-
magis,” (fencing,) with a buckler in his hand. This
person jeeringly invited Wallace to a trial  “Smyt
on,” he said, “I defy thine actioune.” Upon which
our hero cut him down through the crown to his
shoulders, and lightly returned to his own party
again. The buckler-player was dead, as the Min-
strel briefly remarks— quhat nedis wordis mair?”
Wallace and his small party of friends, not more
than sixteen, were immediately surrounded by about
seven score of armed men, and a vigorous mélée
ensued. Though few, his party were all tried men,
and used to arms, so that many a Southron was
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made to bite the dust. A reinforcement arriving
from the Castle, Wallace deemed it prudent to draw
off. Leaving twenty-nine of their enemies dead on
the field, they reached their horses, and rode for
security to Laglane Wood. Three of Percy’s owu
relations were slain in this encounter, and suspect-
ing that it was “wicht Wallace” who had so set
upon his soldiers, but also aware that they were
themselves to blame in the first place, he sent a
herald to Sir Ranald, desiring that he would “tak
souerte of Wallas,” and keep him from “market
toun or fair.” On reaching Corsbie, and his uncle
showing him Percy’s communication, Wallace, who
seems to have had the highest respect for the sheriff,
promised that he would do nothing to cause bim
gricf, so long as he remairzsd under his roof.
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or baggage, in which there were considerable riches.
Percy’s horse was so done up that it could not go
further, and five men were left in charge.of it, two
on foot, and three on horseback. The person in
charge immediately demanded of Wallace’s party
whose horse it was they had in leading, and being
informed that it belonged to the Sheriff of Ayr, he
insolently pressed it into the service of Percy, and
cutting the traces let the harness fall. ~Wallace
remonstrated against such robbery in time of peace.
He obtained no redress, however, but remembering
his promise to Sir Ranald, he bridled his indigna-
tion, and riding back to his uncle at the Muirside,
explained what had occurred. Sir Ranald, however,
counselled peace, but Wallace, expressing himself
with some warmth, declared that he would have
amends, and renouncing his allegiance, rode again
forward on his mission of vengeance. Sir Ranald,
because of his sumpter horse having been seized, and
that he might not in any way be implicated in
what should happen, resolved to remain at the
Mearns * all night, where he grieved much for his
nephew.

Relieved of his obligation to his uncle, Wallace
and his two friends rode briskly forward, in search
Kilmarnock road, where the coaches and carriers used to stop
before the railway was made. This is probably the “ Hesilden”
of Blind Harry.

* Mearns, as well as Haziltonhead, was a celebrated resting.

place for the coachmen and carriers prior to the construction of
the railway.
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of the “sowmer man” and his party, whom he
overtook eastwards, a short distance of Cathcart.
Without much parley Wallace attacked the English,
all of whom he speedily slew, and spoiled the sump-
ter horse of the jewels and money with which,
amongst other things, it was loaded. He also took
the horses and their harness with him. At that
time there was “a bryg of tre”* over the Clyde,
across which he passed after nightfall, but not deem-
ing it safe to remain near Glasgow, he and his atten-
dants passed into the Lennox, which was still held
by Earl Malcolm, who had not then given in his
allegiance to Edward.{+* Wallace and his men lodged
at a friendly hostelry, for a day or two.

Meanwhile, when intelligence was brought to
Percy of what had occurred, he at once concluded
that it was Wallace who had done the deed, and
greatly enraged, ordered Sir Ranald to be sent for.
1t was discovered, however, that he was still at the
Mearns, and that the slaughter of the Englishmen
had occurred quite near to Glasgow. Though
brought immediately before an assize, nothing
could be made of Sir Ranald, as he was ignorant
of the movements of his nephew.

Wallace remained four days at the hostelry in the

* The timber bridge which connected the north and south
hanks of the Clyde at Glasgow, prior to the stone bridge built
by Bishop Rae, about 1350.

4 Earl Malcolm was of the old Lennox line, He fought with

Druce, and in his old age was killed at Halidon Hill, 10th July
1333,

E
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Lennox, while the council was sitting at Glasgow,
and tidings were brought him of the law they had
passed for his apprehension. He was, in the lan-
guage of the Minstrel, to have no rest. Robert the
Boyd, and Kneland, stole out of Glasgow, in much
sorrow for their leader, for they knew not where he
was. Edward Litill, a near relative of Wallace, and
probably ancestor of the Liberton and Meikledale
families, was in Annandale, and Adam Wallace
remained at Riccarton, so Wallace had none of his
old and immediate friends with him.

From the hostelry he proceeded at length to Earl
Maleolm, who made him exceedingly welcome. The
Lennox was at that time well filled with warlike
men, and still bade defiance to the power of Ed-
ward. The Earl offered Wallace the entire com-
mand of his adherents, if he would continue in the
district ; but he declined, it being his purpose to
free his country from the invader, or perish in the
attempt ; at the same time explaining his intention
of immediately going northward. Stephen of Ire-
land, who continued a faithful friend to Wallace in
his future career, was then in the Lennox with him,
It has been supposed by Carrick and others, that
Stephen was truly an Irishman; but this could
hardly be the case, if the Minstrel’s words are to
be taken in their evident meaning. He says, speak-
ing of Wallace, that—

“he ordynyt him to pass,
‘And othir als that borne war off Argill.”

-
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It appears from this that Stephen was simply a
native of Argyleshire, the inhabitants of which were
called Irishmen, down to a recent period, from their
being the descendants of the colony of Scots who
settled there under Fergus in' the sixth century.
There were others, however, who were evidently
from Ireland. Wallace was now resolutely engaged
in organising a small force to be employed upon the
guerilla mode of warfare he had previously con-
trived. The Minstrel says he received all who came
of their own free will, and some of them were

“into Irland@ borne,
That Makfadyan had exilde furth beforie.”

This Makfadyan is described as “a King Edward's
man sworn,” of low birth. There was another per-
son from Ireland, of the name of Fawdoun, of whomn
the Minstrel says,—

¢ Melancholy he was of complexion,

Hewy of statur, dour in his contenance,
Soroufull, sadde, ay dreidfull but plesance.”

Wallace received all that came. The oath of ad-
herence to him as captain was made in presence of
Earl Malcolm., The men he had brought from home
were Gray * and Karlé+ the two trusty friends who
accompanied him from Corsbie. Although the first

* Supposed by the editor of the Perth edition of “ Wallace”
to have been Sir Hugh de Gray of Browfield, in the county of
Roxburgh, ancestor of the Lords of Gray in Perthshire, but
evidently the same Thomas Gray, parson of Liberton, who
fought at Loudoun Hill

+ See an account of the “Kerlies, or M‘Kerlies, of Cruggle-
ton,” at the end of the volume,
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only is mentioned in Carrick’s list, the latter appears
also to have been at Loudoun Hill, and he had great
confidence in their fidelity and hardihood.

“He them commandyt ay next him to persew,
For he thaim kend rycht hardye, wiss, and trew.”

Wallace at length took leave of the good Earl, who
offered him gifts, but he declined them, having of
gold abundantly, from the capture of Percy’s sump-
ter horse. In place of accepting the Earl’s bounty,
he himself gave freely to poor and rich ; for, as the
Minstrel says, “off rychess he held na propyrte.”
‘When he passed through the Lennox he had sixty
good warriors in his leading, whom he halted and
placed “in a waille,” * or rude fortification, above
Leckie. This must have occurred towards the close
of 1296. There was in the vicinity (Stirlingshire) a
small strength or peel erected by the English, called
the Peel of Gargunnock, which the neighbours were
much annoyed at, and Wallace was induced, although
reluctantly, to undertake its capture. It was com-
manded by a Captain Thirlwall The peasantry
observed considerable laxity on the part of the com-
mander, the drawbridge being frequently left down
at night for the convenience of the labourers in the
morning. The Minstrel describes it as—
“ Within a dyk, bathe closs, chawmer, and hall,”

# A little south of Gargurnock there is,.according to the
“Statistical Account,” a conical height, called Kiln-hill, upon
which there are the remains of a ditch or rampart, of a circular
form, where Wallace is supposed to have lodged his men prior

to the attack on Gargunnock. It is likely that the fort was of
British origin, but Wallace may have taken advantage of it.
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but well supplied with men and victual. Two spies
were despatched at midnight to see in what state
the little fortress was, They found the drawbridge
down, and the sentinel asleep. Wallace then led
his men quietly to the bridge, over which they
passed, but the door was fastened by a strong wooden
bar, which resisted every attempt to drive it out of
the wall. He was perplexed by this delay, and went
to it himself considerably out of humour. By sheer
strength of arm he raised the bar out of the stent,
or aperture for receiving it, together with three
yards of mason-work. His men marvelled at his
amazing power. He then, with his foot, struck up
the gate, making “braiss and band to byrst all at
anyss.” The garrison were thoroughly roused by
the noise. The sentinel struck at Wallace with his
staff of steel; but he instantly grasped it from
him, and felled him at a blow. Then advancing he
singled out the captain, and dealt with him in a
similar manner. Closely followed by his warlike
band, the garrison were speedily put to the sword.
Twenty-two, says the Minstrel, lost their lives “in
that steid.” The women and children were put
into a place of safety, and drawing up the bridge,
Wallace and his men remained four days in the
peel, the country in the neighbourhood not know-
ing what had occurred. Having plundered the
place of all that was valuable, they destroyed the
building, and proceeded at night to the neighbour-
ing wood. The captain’s wife, women, and three
children were sct at liberty. Not choosing, or
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thinking it safe, to remain where they were, they
resolved to cross the Forth; but the moss was so
difficult that it could not be traversed on horse-
back, so Wallace alighted on foot. They had few
horses, and they put little value on them. To save
their lives, the Minstrel says, “feill stremthis oft
thai socht;” that is strengths of turf or earthen
walls, such as they took advantage of while lying in
wait to attack Gargunnock. That they made use of
such old British camps as they fell in with for this
purpose, there can be little doubt. Stephen of Ire-
land was the guide upon that occasion ;—another
proof of what we formerly remarked, that he was
not an Irishman, but a Highlander, and well ac-
quainted with the country. He led them towards
Kincardine, and they rested in a forest “that was
bathe lang and wide ;” no doubt part of the ancient
Caledonian wood, the moss or muir from which
extended to the water side. Thence they proceeded
to Methven wood, near Perth. After the sun was
down Wallace walked about on the banks of the
Teith or Tay, where he saw droves of wild animals
traversing the ground. He soon brought down
a fine hart with an arrow, and his party were regaled
with fresh venison, making an excellent dinner, as
they had plenty of everything. Giving his staff of
steel to Karlé to keep, he passed through the Teith
water into Strathern, going covertly lest the South-
ron, in great force, should espy them. They spared,
at the same time, none whom they met of English
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blood* They took up their lodging in Methven
wood for the night. In the morning Wallace
found the country abounding in bestial, wild and
tame, from which circumstance he drew a good
augury.

Appointing Stephen of Ireland to command the
party until his return, he set out by himself to visit
St Johnston, (Perth,) where he proposed to tarry a
few days. He knew that the mayor kept the port,
and by a messenger acquainted him with his pre-
sence. He was courteously received by this func-
tionary, who inquired his name. Wallace gave it as
“Will Malcomsone,” (son of Malcolm, which was
his father’s name,) from Ettrick Forest. He was
desirous, he said, to see the north land, if he could
find a better dwelling. The mayor said he ques-
tioned him not for any ill, but that fell tidings had
come of one Wallace, in the west country, who was
martyring down the king’s men most piteously—

“ Qut of the trewiss, forsuth, we trow he be.”

* Amongst others they slew a aquire and four attendants at
“ the Blakfurd.”

+ It is singular that Dr Jamieson offers no explanation in his
notes to “ Wallace” of this rather curious passage. We have
somewhere seen a commentary upon it to the effect, if we recol-
lect rightly, that “out of the trewiss” meant that he wore the
kilt, and was a Highlandman. We should think, however, the
true interpretation is, that they considered him of Irish extrac-
tion. The ancient Irish, it is well known, were distinguished
from the Scots by wearing pantaloons, or trews, and a mantle,
in place of the belted plaid, which served for kilt and upper
garment. “ Out of the trewiss, forsuth, we #~ow he be,” seems
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Wallace replied in such a way as to mislead the
mayor, and he was allowed to pass freely into the
town.

His object was to ascertain whether it were prac-
ticable to take St Johnston, but he found the gates
strong, and the fosse and walls deep. He learned,
however, that Kincleven Castle, in Perthshire, com-
manded by Sir James Butler, “ane agit cruell
knycht,” was about to be strengthened by a party
of soldiers from the town, where his son, Sir John
Butler, was captain under Sir Gerard Heron.*
Having ascertained the time they were to start for
Kincleven, Wallace took leave of his leman, and
gladly pursued his way to Methven wood. Blowing
his horn, his company speedily rallied, and were
dad to see him, as they had entertained fears of his
safety. Having been apprised of his intention, they
made themselves ready with all despatch, and
marched in goodly array out of the wood towards
Kincleven. On Tayside they drew into “a waille”—
probably an old strength—from whence, sending out

therefore plain enough to imply his descent from those who wore
the pantaloons. This must, of course, have reference to the
historical fact of colonies of the Picts and Scots, returning from
the north of Ireland, having settled in Argyleshire in the sixth,
and in Galloway in the eighth centuries. After all, it scems
probable that, by “out of the trewis,” Blind Harry merely
meant that he was “ out of the truce.”

* Supposed to have been an ancestor of the old family of
Heron, in Northuinberland, rendered famous by Sir Walter
Scott in “ Marmion.”
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scouts, they stole into a thick wood. An hour
before noon three of the “fore ryders went bye,”
and soon afterwards the whole “ court of Inglissmen”
appeared, consisting of ninety horsemen, all well
armed. -Wallace immediately advanced to the attack.
The Englishmen marvelled what they were, but see-
ing their intentions to be warlike, they threw sharp
spears at them, and thought to ride them down.
Wallace and his heroes went boldly against them,
however, and in the first rush a number of English-
men were slain. The shaft of his spear having
broken, Wallace quickly drew “a burnyst brand,”
and passed thrice throughout the host, both men
and horses falling under the lightning rapidity of
his blows. Sir James Butler alighted on foot, and,
surrounded by his best troopers, fought gallantly,
not a few of the Scots falling by their hands, at the
sight of which Wallace was greatly grieved. He
lost no time in pressing forward to where “the
Butler bauld and keyn” was dealing his blows
around him, and, excited with rage, struck him so
forcibly on the head that the blade passed through
his basinet and brain, killing him on the spot.
Though thus deprived of their captain, the English,
from their superiority of numbers, continued to fight
on courageously. Wallace was nobly seconded by
Stephen of Ireland and his chivalry, and Karlé did
good execution with his “staff of steil.” Leaving
sixty dead on the spot, the English at length fled
precipitately towards Kincleven, from the walls of
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which their friends saw what had taken place. Few
men of arms were within the castle, its occupiers
being chiefly women and priests. They instantly
let down the bridge, and opened the gate wide, that
their countrymen might pass in, but they were so
closely followed by the Scots, that friend and foe
mingled with each other. Wallace was amongst the
first to gain the entrance. As a matter of course,
the garrison, with the exception of the captain’s wife,
women, and children, and two priests, were put to
the sword. Having buried the dead, both within
and without the castle, included in which were five
of his own men killed in battle, Wallace drew up the
bridge, and made himself secure against any attack
by the Southrons.

Here he and his party remained for seven days,
during which they spoiled the castle of all its
valuables, carrying off mnightly what they deemed
proper to a place of safety in “Schortwode Shaw.”
At length, having set their prisoners at liberty, and
in accordance with a politic principle of the system
of warfare he had adopted, Wallace set fire to the
building, and razed it to the ground. The flames
from the castle walls conveyed the first intelligence
of what had occurred in the neighbourhood, and the
taptain’s wife carried the tidings with her to St
Johnston. Sir Gerard Heron, who commanded
there, was in great wrath at the recital, and all
being in the belief that it was “the wicht Wallace ”
by whom the party had been attacked, he prepared
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a thousand well-harnessed horsemen to go in search
of the outlaw.

Wallace meanwhile took up his position in Short-
wood Shaw, where he had erected five stalls, or
strengths, constructed strongly of wood, together
with a sixth, with a long range, or lead, from which,
if compelled, they could retire into the others by
passages made for the purpose.

Sir John Butler, son of Sir James who was killed
at Kincleven, had a special command. With two
hundred men he entered the wood, determined to
avenge his father’s death, leaving the main body at
the outskirts under Sir Gerard, no doubt to prevent
the escape of the Scots. The rude species of forti-
fication not being completed when the English
appeared, Wallace passed somewhat in advance,
with part of his small force, leaving the remainder
to hold it against all comers. The English, of course,
were ignorant of the real number under him at this
advanced post. He made a strength of a “cleuch”
or hollow, with trees laid transversely. From the one
side of this position they could issue into the plain,
and enter it again by returning through the wood.
He had only twenty good archers to oppose one
hundred and forty English bowmen, aided by eighty
spearmen, placed so as to be ready should the Scots
issue from their stronghold. This strong party com-
menced what the Minstrel calls “a bykkyr bauld and
keyn” against the Scots. Wallace had a large bow,
which no man but himself might draw, and from his
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secure position he brought down numbers of the
English ; yet, the Minstrel says,
“Thar awfull schoyt was felloun for to byd,

Off Wallace men thai woundyt sor that tid.”

The Scots bowmen were always deemed inferior to
their “auld enemies” of England, an inferiority
which Carrick disputes; but it was felt and admitted
from the war of independence downwards, though
it might be difficult to account for the difference
upon physical grounds, save probably the natural
impatience of the Scots, who generally preferred
close combat. The Minstrel himself says,—
“ Few off thaim was sekyr of archary;

Bettyr thai war, and thai gat ewyn party,

In field to byde, othir with suerd or speyr.”
Perceiving that his men were experiencing consider-
able damage, Wallace caused them to remain more
under cover, while he himself continued to ply his
shafts with deadly effect upon the Lancashire bow-
men who were opposed to them. At length he was
himself wounded. An English archer, observing the
opening at which Wallace appeared when drawing
his bow, stole out to cover from the ranks, where
he took aim, and shot him in the neck, through a
collar of steel which he fortunately wore. Wallace
was surprised, but not much injured, and his quick
eye at once perceiving where his enemy lay, he
stepped deliberately out, and slew him by a sword
cut in the neck as he was turning to fly. After he
had slain fifteen of the English by his own bow, the
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arrows of the Scots began to fail, and they found
themselves so environed on all sides that, as Wallace
manfully counselled them, they must either do or
die. Williamn Loran, (Sir William de Lorayne,) as
the Minstrel calls him, a nephew of Butler, who was
slain, came out of Gowrie at the head of three hun-
dred men to assail the Scots. This leader approached
upon one side of the wood, which was but of small
dimensions, and Sir John Butler on the other, while
Sir Gerard Heron kept ward outside. It was now
afternoon, and Wallace had only fifty men to con-
tend against the host by which he was surrounded.
They gallantly withstood the assault made upon their
strength, but, as they pressed strongly upon their
enemies, the remainder of the force having joined
them, Sir John Butler continued so to divide the
small body, while Lorayne essayed their position
with might and main, that Wallace was compelled
to retire towards a new strength.

The English had themselves become divided, but
uniting again, pushed on to the assault. So many
of the Scots were hurt and slain, that they could not
hope to make a fair stand. In these circumstances,
Wallace manfully but sadly prepared to renew the
struggle even single-handed rather than be taken
alive. In the thickest of the fight he sought “the
Butler,” and struck him to the ground, though the
blow was interrupted by the bough of a tree. The
English, however, crowded so round their com-
wmander, that they bore him away. Lorayue, grieved
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and wrathful at what had occurred, began to draw
rapidly round the little band; Wallace suddenly
caught a sight of him, and springing out at the
side, was upon him before help could reach him.
“He got no gyrth* for all his birnyst weid ”—as
the Minstrel says,—*“his trenchand sword struck on
his gorgeat off steill,” and “derflly to dede he left
him on the land.” The Scots rallied nobly round
their leader, until he was won from the thick of the
enemy, and succeeding at last in taking the strength,
Wallace and his band kept it in defiance of their
enemies. On the cry that Lorayne was dead, Sir
Heron “tranontit- that stede,” then called a council
of war. The party of Wallace, now reduced by
seven more, while one hundred and twenty of the
enemy had perished, retired to Cargill Wood. The
English afterwards searched the Shaw for the hidden
treasure carried away from the castle of Kincleven,
but finding their labour vain, they returned in sor-
rowful plight to St Johnston.

The second night after the battle, the Scots re-
paired to Shortwood Shaw, and carried away the
spoil, including gold and silver, which they had
deposited there. Before morning, they reached
Methven Wood, and there remained for two days.
Thereafter they repaired suddenly to Elcho Park,
where they meant te continue for some time.
Wallace, disguised as a priest, resolved to visit his
leman at St Johnston, whom the Minstrel describes

* Safety. + Retreated.
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as a woman of considerable beauty. She received
him with much “ plesance,” and on retiring at night,
he arranged to meet her at her own house three days
afterwards.

Wary as Wallace had been, he was observed by
certain of his enemies, who communicated the in-
telligence to Heron and Butler, before whom the
woman was carried. She denied all knowledge of
Wallace, but they threatened to burn her “in a bayle
fyre” if she did not disclose what she knew ; offer-
ing her, on the other hand, if she helped to “bryng
yon rebell downe,” to load her with riches and
honours, and to marry her to a knight of her own .
choice. Thus tempted, she agreed to betray him,
mentioning the time he was to visit her. Men of
arms were accordingly planted at the gates to watch
the “wicht Wallace,” and greatly did his enemies
rejoice.

Unwitting of the treason against him, he kept
his appointment, and was joyfully received by his
false leman. Unable to prevail upon him to remain
all night, for he would not sleep, he said, until his
men he saw, and thinking probably that the plot
would be marred, and that she would be exposed to
the vengeance of the English commander for having
deceived them, she gave way to the utmost grief, and
after much questioning by Wallace, confessed what
she had done. Believing her contrition to be sin-
cere, he forgave her, and borrowing part of her
attire, as a disguise, he hurried away by the south
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while Sir John Butler took the range with three
hundred men. The Scots sought for an opening to
escape, but found none, so that they were compelled
to do battle—forty matched against three hundred
men, Wallace and his party fought with their
usual gallantry. Forty of the Southrons lay on the
ground ; but fifteen of themselves were slain. But-
ler’s army at last became so disconcerted that the
Scots passed through them to their strengths. On
to the Tay side they hasted, with the intention of
passing the river; but Wallace found it so deep,
that, as half of his men could not swim, he resolved
rather to peril all in battle than hazard the lives of
his men where he could do nothing to save them.
Again they returned to the field, where Butler, hav-
ing reorganised his party, assailed them with all his
power. Do or die was the feeling of the Scots, and
they fought with unconquerable courage. Wallace"
endeavoured to reach Butler, as the readiest way to
end the fray; but he was under an oak, with a
crowd of men, where a clear stroke could not be got
at him, yet dashing forward, a “full royd slope”
was made, through which the Scots passed. Stephen
of Ireland, “quhilk hardy was and wicht,” and “trew
Karlé, douchty in mony deid,” did great service.
Sixty Southrons were slain in this last encounter,
and nine of the Scots. Butler, having lost a hun-
dred men in all, retired to “the staill” for a fresh
supply, and while Sir Gerard and he were best
arranging their plans, Wallace, with sixteen men—
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all that survived of the party he had led from the
Lennox—made his escape.

The English now put the sleuth-hound upon his
scent, and tracked him so closely that he deemed it
prudent to deviate from the route he had taken to
Gask Wood, preferring another, which lay uphill
about two miles distant. On his way thither, an
incident happened which has been variously com-
mented upon. Fawdoun, the Irishman, whom the
Minstrel, as we have already seen, describes as
melancholy of complexion, heavy of stature, dour in
his countenance, sorrowful, sad, aye dreadful with-
out pleasance, under the pretence of being tired,
refused to proceed further. Wallace, says the Min-
strel,

£ was wa to leyff him in that thrang.
He bade him ga, and said the strenth was ner;
Bot he tharfor wald nocht fastir him ster.”

Wallace, enraged at his stubbornness, and suspecting
his fidelity, for he was regarded with suspicion, struck
off his head with his sword. Had Fawdoun really
been so knocked up that he could proceed no fur-
ther, it certainly would have been rash in Wallace
thus to treat a faithful adherent ; buthe was a strong
man, and not likely, under the circumstances, to be
so reduced by weakness that he could not travel two
miles further to a place of security. Wallace was
quick and decided in his judgment, and he saw that
Fawdoun intended to betray him, as well, perhaps,
as to give information where the treasure lay con-
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cealed. Upon no other footing could Fawdoun hope
to escape the vengeance of the English, who, with
the sleuth-hound, were fast upon them. Carrick
thinks it a proof of Fawdoun’s presumed guilt, that
Stephen of Ireland, whom he assumes to have been
a countryman and friend of his, did not in the
slightest censure the deed of Wallace. But the fact
is, that the circumstance is rather an evidence that
neither he nor Karlé, as some have supposed, were
Irishmen. The Minstrel justifies the act, on the
ground of personal safety, as well as policy, for he
would have been a lost man to the cause, whether
he turned traitor, or was slain by the English, At
the same time he adds—
“Deyme as yhe lest, ye that best can and may ;
I bott raherss as my autour will say.”

The stars were now beginning tc appear, and five
hundred of the enemy were in pursuit of him, Un-
known to Wallace, Stephen and Karlé remained
behind in concealment. When the English host
had reached the spot, the hound stopped at the body
of Fawdoun, and would not proceed further. In the
crowd of English soldiers who gathered round,
Stephen and Karlé mingled unperceived, and as Sir
Gerard Heron stooped to look upon the body of
Fawdoun, Karlé, by a stroke of his sword upwards,
gave him a mortal wound in the neck, and imme-
diately he and Stephen fled towards the Earn. The
death of Sir Gerard produced great consternation,
and for “woe off wepyng” Butler remained inactive
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for some time. They deemed, however, that Wal-
lace must be near at hand, and as the wood was
small, it was thought he could not long escape them.
Forty men conveyed the dead body of Sir Gerard
to St Johnston, and various parties were sent in dif-
ferent directions to beat up the retreat of our hero.
A strong power remained at the same time at Dup-
lin. Butler passed to Dalreoch, while the fords
were guarded, so as to keep the wood till day-
break.

Wallace, with only thirteen men left, sought the

forest for his two faithful followers, Stephen and:

Karlé, whom he grieved for as having been taken by
the enemy. In the hall of Gask Castle* they at
last lodged themselves, and with two sheep slaugh-
tered from a neighbouring fold—for they were with-
out food otherwise—prepared a repast, of which
they stood much in need. While enjoying rest and
repose after their fatigue, rude horns were heard
to blow on the neighbouring hill. Two men were
despatched to see what the matter was, but they
returned not.  Still the uproar continued, and other
two were sent. These two also did not return, and,
v~ .asy at the boisterous noise which “so brymly
vlew and fast,” he ordered the whole remaining nine
to go forth. Thus left alone, “the awfull blast
aboundyt mekill mayr,” insomuch that he believed

* The old castle of Gask stood nearer the river than the
present house of Gask, and the ruins are styled Waliace's Castle,
from the traditional adventure which occurred in it.
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that his retreat was discovered. Wallace then drew
his sword, and stepped forward in the direction of the
sound. Here he fancied he saw Fawdoun, carrying
his head in his hand. Wallace crossed himself and
stood still, not being altogether above the supersti-
tious fears of the period. Fawdoun dashed the
. head in at him, which he instantly picked up and
cast out again. As the Minstrel says, he felt in his
heart “ gretlye agast,” and believing that it was no
spirit of man but a devil that had thus appeared to
him, he strode up the hall, and resolving no longer
to remain there, made his exit by a closed stair, the
boards of which he tore away, and leaped fifteen
feet over.

Carrick endeavours to explain this incident, which
is well in keeping with the superstitious feeling of
the age, by natural causes. .He ‘assumes that the
horns. were sounded by the English as a ruse, in
imitation of a custom of the Scots at that period,
when about to charge an enémy, and that Wallace’s
men were by this means taken and slain. He sup-
poses also that the head of Fawdoun had become
the prize of an English soldier, thinking it that of
the outlaw himself, and, venturing somewhat before
his companions, threw the head at Wallace on find-
ing that he was mistaken. This is by no means,
however, a very plausible way of accounting for the
apparition. Had the soldier recognised Wallace in
the person he had found in the hall, he would havs
given information as quictly as possible, in place of



*‘ Fawdoun dashed the head at him, which he instantly picked up and
east out again.”—Warrace, Page $6.
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creating alarm by throwing Fawdoun’s head at him.
It would seem more natural to suppose that it was
altogether a vision—a thing of imagination—on the
part of Wallace. No deubt he must have felt un-
easy—however justified he might be—at putting
Fawdoun to death under the circumstances, and
with a mind somewhat disturbed, and drowsy withal
from fatigue, it is not surprising that, alone, amidst
the gloom of night and the flickering gleam of the
fire at which the sheep had been prepared for
supper, such a vision should have occurred to him.
At all events, it is a very poetical incident, and it is
better to treat it as a matter of fancy than to attempt
a clumsy solution by matters of fact which may be
as unfounded as the vision itself. The Minstrel
describes the mind of Wallace as so full of the appa-~
rition of Fawdoun, that, after he had escaped and
fled up the water, he believed that the ghost had set
the hall on fire, and that this vengeful spirit had
been the cause of losing his men. Musing in moody
mind his thoughts turned heavenward, to divine, if
possible, the will of the Creator in all this, making
piteous moans as he walked along the banks of the
river.

The mists of night had by this time begun to roll
upwards upon the mountains, when Sir John Butler,
who had been engaged in watching the fords, dis-
covered him. Galloping forward from among his
soldiers, he came upon Wallace, and demanded who
he was. The latter professed to be on a message to
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Sir John Stewart, then in Doune. Butler said ne
lied, that he had been with Wallace, and drawing
his sword, rode forward, with a threat. Wallace
struck him above the knee, and cutting his limb in
two, brought the knight to the ground. He then
seized his horse, and by another sweep of the sword,
cut his head from his shoulders. An English sol-
dier, seeing the fall of Butler, set his spear in rest,
and rode at him with all his force, so as to bear
away the animal from him. Wallace, however, par-
ried the thrust, and speedily deprived him of his
weapon; then springing on his prize, he rode
through the throng of armed men, who had now
gathered round, and took his way to Dalreoch.
Having slain a number of his pursuers, some of
whom were drowned in the Earn, he fled with all
speed through the muir, followed by a large force.
The most forward of them he slew before the others
could come up to their assistance. The horse was
a good one, still he was afraid of his failing before
he reached a place of safety. His pursuers were
spread wide, so as to prevent his escape, and they
were following on him fast. At the Blackford
‘Wallace alighted, and his horse having lost wind, he
walked on foot about a mile. By the time he was
again horsed, numbers of the enemy were about
him ; and he felt that this could not last long. He
still kept steadily in front, however, slaying the
foremost of his pursuers as they neared upon him,
until twenty of them had fallen by his hand. Reach-
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ing a dark muir, at length his horse sank, incapable
of going further. To foot he then betook himself
with vigour, and getting out of view of his enemies
among the long heather, struck off- towards the
Forth. Remembering that « Stirlyng bryg of tre”
was well guarded by the enemy, he swam the river
at Cambuskenneth.

Thus relieved of all immediate danger from his
pursuers, Wallace made for the Torwood, where, be-
fore dawn on the following morning, at the house of
a widow whom he knew, he found that rest of which
he stood so much in need. Food she prepared, and
while a woman, with her child, was despatched to
Gask Hall, to learn tidings of his men, she caused
two of her sons to attend him while he slept in a
bed prepared at the wood side* as he would not
have been safe in her cottage; the third she de-
spatched to Dunipace, to inform his uncle of his
arrival

After mutual and cordial greetings, Wallace and

* He is supposed to have been secreted in the huge tree,
known until late times as Wallace’s oak. The reading of the
Minstrel hardly bears out this meaning, however. He says—

“ Thai beknyt him + to quhat stede he suld draw,
The rone wes thik that Wallace slepyt in;
About he yeid, and maid but litill dyn.

So at the last of him he had a sycht,
Full prewalye how that his bed was dycht.”
The expression, “ the rone wes thik,” would mean, not the hol-
low of the tree, but that the foliage was so close that he could
uary be seen from one point.
t Wallace’s uncla,
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his uncle entered into much debate as to the enter-
prise upon which he had entered—the latter derid-
ing it as foolish in the extreme to think it possible,
by his own influence alone, to compete with the
“power of Edward. He advised him to take a lord-
ship, whereupon he might live; for he felt assured
he would gladly give him abundance of land. Wal-
lace, however, indignantly repelled the idea, saying
he was resolved to bring Scotland to peace, or die in
the attempt.

On the authority of Major and Fordun, he is
said, somewhat sarcastically, to have reminded his
uncle of the classic passage which he had so often
instilled into him in youth :—

“ Dico tibi verum, libertas optima rerum ;
Nunquam servili, sub nexu vivito, fili.”” *

The discussion, which ended amicably, was inter-
" rupted by the arrival of Karl€ and Stephen of Ire-
land, both of whom were greatly overcome of joy
when they saw their chief safe and well. They told
him of the death of Sir Gerard, and of their escape
through the Ochils, and how a true Scot had directed
them to the Torwood. While they remained at the
widow’s that night, the woman arrived who had
been despatched to Gask Castle. She told what she
had seen on the way—the many proofs, in the dead
bodies of Englishmen, of the hot pursuit Wallace
* «T tell you a truth, libextyb i8 the best of all things;

My son, never live under any siavish bond.”
Scoticnrom,
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had sustained. She found Gask Castle and hall
uninjured, not a stone out of its place, but no tidings
of the men who had been entrapped by the blowing
of the horns—a circumstance which, no doubt,
helped to strengthen the superstitious impression
of Wallace regarding the apparition of Fawdoun.
“ Tharoff,” says the Minstrel, “he grewyt gretlye in
that tyd.”

Resolving no longer to remain in the forest, the
widow generously supplied him with silver, and
gave her two eldest sons to accompany him ; while
the priest, his uncle, furnished him with “ gud horse
and ger.” Taking leave of his friends, he and his
four attendants, Karlg, Stephen, and the widow’s
two sons, rode over to Dundaff * the same night.
Sir John the Graham, an aged knight, who had dis-
tinguished himself at the battle of Largs, was lord
of the land. He had purchased peace of the Eng-
lish, so that he might live in quietness, because of
his age, but he had in no way given in his adher-
ence to Edward. Here he was made extremely
welcome by its owner, and remained in the castle
for three days, resting himself in security. Graham
had a son, also Sir John, who had been knighted at

* Dundaff Castle, of which there are still some remains, was
situated near the source of the Carron, in Stirlingshire. The old
knight of Carron, by some called David, and others John, was
proprietor, not only of Dundaff, but of the lands of Strathblane
and Strathcarron. The first of the family who appears in char-
to=3 was William de Grahame, in the time of David L
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Berwick, when quite a youth, in consequence of Lis
gallant bearing in one of the Border fights with the
Percies. The Minstrel says—

¢ Alexander the ferss at Berweik maid him knycht,”

a passage which Jamieson does not attempt to ex-
plain, and which seems incomprehensible—for we
know no Alexander the Fierce or First whom it
could refer to. Be this as it may, Sir John Graham
the younger and Wallace became warm friends, and
they made an oath of mutual fidelity upon a shield
in presence of the old knight. Sir John would at
once have accompanied Wallace, but the latter, from
past experience, counselled wariness until he should
visit his friends in Clydesdale and see what force
he could command. Graham at once agreed, pro-
mising to meet him with all his strength as soon as
he should have intelligence of his being wanted.
From Dundaff Wallace and his four adherents
passed to Bothwell Muir, where they lodged pri-
vately with one Crawford, a relation by the mother’s
side. Next day he proceeded to Gilbank, where
his uncle Auchinleck * resided.

Percy, at Ayr, having been informed of all that
‘Wallace had done in the north, much consternation
prevailed amongst the English. Some supposed
that, because he had not crossed the bridge at Stir-
ling, he must have been drowned in the Forth ; but
Percy was of a different opinion—knowing that he

* The Auchinlecks of Auchinleck, ag formerlyexplained.
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knowing who did the deed. Hesilrig was then
sheriff of Lanarkshire—a man of a cruel and tyran-
nical disposition, and much dreaded by the people.
He marvelled much by whom his men were de-
stroyed, and, for self-protection, caused them to go
in greater bodies. Where the number exceeded all
chance of quietly despatching the enemy, Wallace
courteously refrained ; and the conduct of his four
men was unimpeachable.

In Lanark there lived a young lady, of great
beauty and amiable disposition. She was the
daughter of Hew Braidfute of Lamington, who, as
well as her mother, was dead.* Hesilrig had done
her much harm ; he had caused her brother, the
young laird, to be slain, and, under the plea of pro-
tection, exacted heavy sums from the property, and
it was believed he designed her for his eldest son.
Wallace had seen this lady on her way to the kirk,
and fell deeply in love with her. In vain he at-
tempted to argue himself out of his passion—as
inconsistent with the great mnational task he had
undertaken. He consulted Karlé, who advised
marriage.

It so happened that this young lady was desirous
of seeing Wallace, that she might find protection
from the designs of Hesilrig. By means of her
maid he was brought privately, through the garden,
into her house, where dinner was prepared for his

* Hugh Braidfoot of Lamington, in the shire of Lanark, died
about the year 1205.
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reception. They discoursed of love with much in-
genuousness. As a righteous wife, she said she
would be bound to him in all service, but she would
“leman be to no man born.” Wallace declared his
willingness to wed if the kingdom were free; but
at this time he might not take such chance. The
Minstrel declares his inability to tell the precise
nature of the bond concluded between the lovers,
To dinner they went ; but

“The sayr grewans ramaynyt in his entent;
Loss off his men, and lusty payne off luff.
His leiff he tuk at that tyme to ramuff.”

Next morning he left the Gilbank, accompanied
by his four men, and proceeded to the Corheid,
where his nephew, Tom Halliday,* lived, together
with Edward Little, his cousin, who were delighted
to see him, thinking he had been slain in Strathern,
Three days they abode at Corheid, making good
cheer the while. On the third day they bound them
for Lochmaben, with sixteen of good chivalry in
company. Leaving the party, all but three, in the
Knokwood, Wallace, Litill, Karlé, and Halliday
entered the town, where dinuner was ordered at
an hostelry. Meanwhile they went to hear mass,
having no dread of Englishmen. While absent,
young Clifford, “emys son to the lord,” and four
with him, came to the inn. He was a presumptuous
young man, and had been engaged in not a few

* Halliday appears to have been a relation of Wallace, but
the precise degree of connexion cannot be ascertained.
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successful tilts. He demanded of the “ gud wyff”
whose horses these were fastened at the door of the
hostelry. Knowing his character, she replied cau-
tiously that they belonged to four gentlemen who
had come out of the west. “What devil,” said he,
“made them so gaily to ride?” and in great scorn
cut the tails off the four horses. The hostel wife
cried piteously. When Wallace came, and was in-
formed of what had occurred, he followed fast. He
was greatly enraged, but jocular withal. Crying
after the party, he said—
“ Gud freynd, abid,

Seruice to tak for thi craft in this tyde.

Marschell thou art without commaund off me ;

Reward agayne, me think, I suld pay the;

Sen I off laitt now come owt off the west

In this cuntre, a barbour off the best,

To cutt and schaiff, and that a wondyr gude,

Now thow sall feyll how I oyss to lat blude.”
So saying, he dealt the captain a stroke that finished
his career, and soon another he brought to the
ground, by which time his men had slain the other
two.

Taking Clifford’s horses with them, as well as
their own mutilated animals, and after paying the
landlady, who made piteous moan, they departed
without waiting to dine. When the death of Clifford
became known, a strong force, consisting of seven
score, was sent from the castle by the English in
search of the four Scotsmen. To the Knockwood *

& The “ Statistical Account of Scotland,” parish of Kirkmis
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they rode for the remainder of their party; but as
the wood was small, and afforded little protection,
they alighted for the purpose of leading their horses
towards a height. The English force was not above
a mile distant, mounted on fresh horses, and shining
in burnished steel. The Scots took horse, and, as
Wallace advised, sought the Easter Muir ; afraid
they were, at the same time, that the hurt animals
would fail. As the English neared the Scots, their
mounted bowmen shot their arrows fast,and wounded
two of them severely. Enraged to see his men
bleed, Wallace turned upon them, and in a brief
space fifteen were slain, while the rest fled quickly
to their strength again, followed by the Scots. Tom
Halliday, however, discovered an ambuscade of two
hundred of the enemy, and immediately counselled
his uncle to withdraw.

At the Corheid, as the Minstrel remarks, they

chael, says :—‘ There are several indistinct remains of ancient
fortifications, but no tradition about any other than a small fort
in the Knockwood, called Wallace's house, said to have been
thrown up by Sir William Wallace, after he had slain Sir Hew
of Moreland and five of his men, at a place still named from that
the ‘Sax Corses,’ t.e., the six corpses, and where there are two
or three large stones, which seem to have been set up in remem-
brance of some great transaction.” It is evident, from the nar-
rative of the Minstrel, that Wallace had no time to construct
such a defence, although he may have taken temporary advan-
tage of some old remains. It is evident, also, that the six corpses
do not apply to the event alluded to. Tradition—although
generally founded upon some leading fact—is very apt to be
wrong in the details,
G
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would fain have been, which the Southron perceiv-
ing, they followed quickly. Sir Hew of Moreland,
one of the most esteemed warriors in the north of
England at the time, led the pursuit. He was clad
in well-forged steel, and mounted on a noble courser.
Wallace drew up under a large oak, and, awaiting
the advance of Moreland, clove him, head and
shoulders, with one stroke of his two-handed sword.
He then seized the spear, and mounted the horse of
his enemy, for his own was spent by loss of blood.
Wallace. now surrounded by the English, was res-
cued by his men, who speedily returned to the
charge, and for a time the mélée continued with
great fury on both sides. Halliday maintained the
fight boldly on foot, while Wallace, on horseback,
and with spear in hand, rode through their ranks.
Three he slew ere he lost his weapon; then, drawing
his sword, he dealt death on every side. At length
the English took to flight, glad to seek the castle for
safety. Besides their commander, Moreland, they
lost twenty men at this bout, while the Scots did
not lose one, five being wounded only. One Gray-
stock, next in command, and who had but lately
come to Scotland, upbraided his countrymen for
flying before such a handful. With three hundred
in his train, he followed fast upon the Scots, vowing
that he would be revenged. Wallace’s men were
now mounted on the horses of their enemies, their
own being greatly knocked up. He himself rode
somewhat in the rear—
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“ And Halyday prewyt weill in mony place;

Sib sister sone he wes to gud Wallace.” *
Expecting to be followed by the English, they rode
warily, and arrayed their small band so that they
could not come upon them in a body, and, from ex-
perience, they were afraid to advance in detail.
Approaching in array together, the English saw how
coolly Wallace rode within so short a distance ; and
from Moreland’s horse they knew the rider to be
him. They immediately advised Graystock not to
pursue further; but he abused them for cowards,
and, watching a proper place for attack, continued to
follow. Wallace was unwilling, with so few, to ac-
cept battle on the plain, and careful not to expose
his men, he kept riding anxiously, sometimes in
front and sometimes in the rear, till his horse could
travel no further.

Sir John the Graham, of Dundaff, formerly alluded
to, had fortunately been at the Corheid, with thirty
good warriors in his train, to learn tidings of Wallace,
and meeting with Kirkpatrick of Torthorwald, a
relative of our hero by the mother’s side, who had
been in Eskdale Wood for the last half year in
opposition to the English, they joined their forces,
Kirkpatrick being accompanied by fifty men. As
soon as they perceived the friends they were in
search of, they rode down upon the English, making

* The Minstrel must mean by “sib sister” that Halliday was
Wallace’s cousin—son of his mother’s sister ; but, unless Malcolin
of Ellerslie had been twice married, this could not have been
possible,
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great slaughter. Wallace, on foot, “gud rowme he
gat”” The Southron fled, and, remounted on the
enemy’s horses, the Scots made all diligence to block
up the chase. Graystock took flight on “a stern
horss and stout,” accompanied by a hundred of his
men, who held together in the rout. Aware that
in flight the best always pass with their chief,
Wallace, with some warmth, urged Sir John the
Graham, whom he found before him cutting down
whosoever he might overtake, to pursue with his
fresh horse the flying chief. Kirkpatrick also un-
derstood the counsel, and joining with their whole
strength in pursuit, while Wallace brought up the
rear, Graystock was soon overtaken and slain by
Sir John the Graham, and the entire rout was either
killed or dispersed. 'When the battle was over,
which “rycht at the skyrt off Queenysbery befell,”
the greeting between the chiefs was of the most
gratifying description, Wallace apologising, with all
the natural goodness of his disposition, for the
apparent heat of his remonstrance while in pursuit
of the foe. As the Minstrel quaintly remarks—
“Schir Jhone the Grayme to thaim come happely.”

By this time the day was down, and night approach-
ing fast. Counsel having been asked of Wallace, he
recommended an attack on Lochmaben Castle, as,
after what had occurred, few men could have been
left for its defence. This was at once agreed to;
and as they approached, the night being dark, Tom
Halliday, best acquainted with the country, was re-
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quested to lead the way. Calling one of his men,
John Watson, who had been a sojourner in the
castle for some time, as he said, against his will,
they rode on, going smartly up to the castle gate.
The porter came forward, and began to ask tidings
of Watson. “Open quickly,” said the latter, *for
the captain is coming.” TUnwisely he did as re-
quested, and was instantly slain by Halliday.
Watson, with the keys in his hand, followed by
the main body under Wallace, found no one to
oppose him, the inmates consisting of women and
two servants. All parties having fasted for a con-
siderable time, and provisions being largely spread
before them, with ale and wine, a sumptuous repast
was enjoyed ; meanwhile the flying English, men-
at-arms and on foot, who had been at the Knock-
head, were admitted by John Watson as they sought
the shelter of the castle, ignorant of what had taken
place, and instantly put to death—
“ Na man left thar that was of England born.”

Next day, the castle having been well inspected, John-
ston, relative of Halliday, “nere neuo to Wallace,”
was sent for, and constituted captain of Lochmaben,
with a goodly array of men under him. The women
had leave to go to England. Next morning Wallace
and Sir John the Graham proceeded to the Corheid,
where they remained for the night. The following
day, after dinner, they rode to Crawford Muir, Tom
Halliday returning to the Corhall, where he con-
tinued without fear, none of the English knowing
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that he was concerned in the late skirmishes. Kirk-
patrick passed into Eskdale Wood, where he expected
to abide in safety.

Wallace and Graham, with forty men, proceeded
down the water from Crawfordjohn, and towards
night lighted upon Clyde. Wallace suggested an
attack upon Crawford Castle, and undertook, with
one in company, to proceed in advance by way of
strategy. A Cumberland person, of the name of
Martindail, ruled over the whole of the lordship of
Crawford at that time. - Accompanied by Edward
Litill, Wallace went on his way. Near an hostelry,
not far from the castle, he met with a woman who
counselled him, if he were a Scot, to pass on, for
the Southrons of the castle had been drinking there
for a length of time, and from their conversation
about one Wallace and the taking of Lochmaben,
she was afraid he would meet with harm. Learning
that the woman was a true Scot, and thinking the
chance most opportune, as no man of fence had been
left in the castle, Wallace, beckoning to Sir John the
Graham, at once entered the house. “ Benedicite!”
said he to the company. The captain, branding
him for a Scot, asked him what “ bellamy * he was
that came so grim.” Without further parley he drew
his sword, and laid about him with such good-will
that in a short time he had slain fifteen, Edward
Litill, who kept the door, having despatched other
five, which made up the full complement of the

* Friend—from the French belle ami, good friend, no doubt.
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CHAPTER VL

WALLACE MARRIES THE HEIRESS OF LAMINGTON—ASSAULTED BY
THE ENGLISH, AND RETREATS TO CARTLANE CRAIGS—MURDER
OF HIS WIFE BY HESILRIG—SLAUGHTER OF HESILRIG EY
WALLACE—BATTLE OF BIGGAR—CHOSEN GUARDIAN OF SCOT-
LAND—TAKES A STRENGTH ON THE CREE—ALSO TURNBERRY
CASTLE-~TRUCE AT RUTHERGLEN—RESIDES AT CUMNOCK.

THE octaves * of February were over and part of
March (1296-7) before Wallace left Dundaff for Gil-
bank. With the spring-time of the year, which the
Minstrel describes so glowingly, when “wooddis has
won thar worthy weid off greyne,” Wallace’s love
for the young and unprotected lady of Lamington
returned in all its fervour ; and, after sundry meet-
ings with her, and much debate with himself on the
subject of love and war, they became united. The
Minstrel says, according to his author, “scho was
his rychtwyss wyff.” The question has been much
disputed ; but the fact evidently rests on the state-
ment of Henry, who, in this instance, pointedly
refers to his “auctor ” Blair, the party, he being a
priest and friend of Wallace, by whom the marriage
* The space of eight days after a festival
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ceremony was probably performed. - How long they
lived together the Minstrel could not declare, but
the issue of their union was a daughter, who, he
says, was married to a Squire Shaw. There is no-
thing at all dubious in the statement of Henry as
to this incident in the life of his hero. He made no
secret of his intercourse with the false leman of St
Johnston, and as little delicacy might have been
expected in this instance had the visits of his hero
to the heiress of Lamington been of an equally
unlicensed character.* Notwithstanding the happi-

* Thus, according to the Minstrel, Wallace had a daughter by
his marriage, and the Baillies of Lamington hold to be descended
from her. It is difficult, however, as Carrick observes, to under-
stand how this happened. Taking it for granted that this daughter
was legitimate, the Minstrel says she was married to one ““Squire
Shaw,” and that “rycht gudly men come off this lady ying.”
The Baillie descent may have been by a second marriage—suc-
ceeding to the property through failure of the first family, if
there were any; or by marriage with the heiress of the Shawa.
At all events the fact that the daughter of Wallace succeeded to
her mother’s property of Lamington is in itself a proof that she
was legitimate. Wallace does not seem to have possessed any
property himself. The son of Sir Malcolm, his elder brother,
Sir John Wallace, succeeded to Ellerslie, which afterwards fell
into the Riccarton family. Had Dr Jamieson attended to this
statement of the Minstrel, it would have dissipated all doubt
ariging from the property of Ellerslie having reverted back to
the main stock of the Wallaces. Alluding to the “justice aire ”
which he called at Lanark (about 18th August 1297), the
Minstrel says—

“ His brothir sone put to his heritage.”
Legitimate or illegitimate, therefore, the daughter of Wallace
could not succeed to the heritable property of Ellerslie. Lang-
toft mentions the capture and execution of a Sir John de Wal-
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ness he enjoyed with his “wedded love,” the mind of
Wallace continued to run on the depressed condition
of his country, and he could notlive at ease so long
as the Southron lorded it over his native soil. The
Minstrel is highly poetical when he says—

“ Now leiff thi myrth, now leiff thi haill plesance ;
Now leiff thi bliss, now leiff thi childis age ;
Now leiff thi youth, [now] follow thi hard chance ;

Now leiff thi Iuff, for thou sall loss a gage,
Qubhilk neuir in erd sall be redemyt agayne;
Folow fortoun, and all hir fers owtrage;

Go leiff in wer, go leiff in cruell payne.”

It was, says the Minstrel, in the year 1297 that
Wallace went into Lanark amongst his mortal foes.
He was accompanied by nine of a following, and Sir
John the Graham, who came also into the town, had
fifteen. They went to hear mass at the kirk, which
was situated without the burgh. They and their
men were “ graithit in gudly greyn,” which was the
fashion of the season.* Hesilrig, the English she-
riff, and Sir Robert Thorn, a subtle knight, resolved
to cross Wallace on his return from devotion. One
of his boldest men, a person of licht and jeering
words, thus saluted him—

lace, whom he calls a brother of Sir William, but a mistake of
this kind may be easily accounted for, The memory of Wallace
is still fresh in Lanark. The house in which he resided stood
at the head of the Castlegate, opposite the church.

* According to Wyntoun his armour was concealed under his
belted mantle of green.
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“ ¢« Dewgar, gud day, bone senyhour, and gud morn !*
¢ Quhom scornys thow ?’ quod Wallace, ‘quha lerd the?’
¢ Quhy, schir,” he said, ¢ come yhe nocht new our se ¢
Pardoun me than, for I wend ye had beyne
Ane inbasset to bryng ane wncouth queyne.”
Wallace answered :— Sic pardoune as we haiff,
In oyss to gyff, thi part thow sall nocht craiff.’
‘Sen ye ar Scottis, yeit salust sall ye be;
Gud deyn, dawch lard, bach lowch banyock a de.’”

This affords, with what follows, a good specimen of
the banter of the times. The Englishman taunts
Wallace with having newly come over the sea—in
other words, with being an Irishman—just as a
vulgar banterer of our own day would say, “Are ye
not newly swam ?” and he concludes by saluting him,
both in Scotch and Gaelic, “Good morning, lazy
laird ; if you please, God bless you!” The last line
is curious, as indicating that Gaelic was still under-
stood in the west country as late as the days of
Wallace. Indeed, it is said by Buchanan not to
have been extinct in Ayrshire in his time; and
there is reason to believe that Robert the Bruce,
from his being a native of Carrick, knew the lan-
guage sufficiently to converse with his Highland
adherents.

Wallace was unwilling at this time to have any.
disturbance, so that the scorn of words was pro-
longed with greater patience than he generally exer-
cised. At length the English so gathered round,
while Sir Robert Thorn and Hesilrig were seen
approaching with “thair power,” that the Scots
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deemed it folly longer to parley. The mélée which
ensued is described by the Minstrel to have lacked
nothing of the blood and slaughter that usually
characterised such onsets. The English, however,
mustered so strongly that, after leaving fifty of
them dead on the street, the Scots were glad to make
their escape. “The woman,” says the Minstrel, saw
the peril they were in, and immediately lifting the
gate, allowed them to pass through her premises,
Wallace and Graham keeping back the enemy till
the whole of their party were safe. The Scots fled
to a retreat at Cartlane Craigs, where a cavern is still
pointed out as the cave of Wallace. On the escape
of his victim, Hesilrig had “the woman ” appre-
hended, and instantly put to death.

That the Minstrel means by “the woman ” the
heiress of Lamington, whom he says Wallace had
married, there can be no doubt, for it is not pro-
bable that such “gret dulle”” would have been occa-
sioned by the fate of a strange person, however
much she might have contributed to the safety of
the party.

Wiyntoun, upon whose statements great reliance
may generally be placed, relates this skirmish with
.the English somewhat differently. e represents it
as altogether a private adventure of Wallace himself,
he being wholly unaccompanied. He also describes
Hesilrig as absent on the occasion, but that on his
return, and learning the amount of slaughter com-
mitted, and that the escape of Wallace had been
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effected chiefly by means of the heiress of Laming-
ton, he gave orders for her instant execution.

It is difficult to account for this disparity. There
is such a similarity between the writers in the intro-
duction and dialogue, previous to the fight, that, as
Carrick remarks, it is impossible to doubt that they
were either taken from the same souree, the history
of Wallace by Blair, or that the Minstrel borrowed
almost the precise words of Wyntoun. In either
case the difference is puzzling. If Blair's work was
the authority of both, how could they have—either
the one or other of them—so far departed from their
information ? If the Minstrel borrowed from Wyn-
toun, why did he deviate from him in everything
save the introduction, unless he had good reason so
to do? As Wyntoun wrote nearly a century before
the Minstrel, it is not likely that the latter was
ignorant of the fact; and if so, he must have had
the “process” of his author (Blair) to go by in pre-
ference. In such a case, therefore, we can hardly
do as Carrick has done, prefer the story of Wyntoun
to that of the Minstrel.

Intelligence of the death of his wife was brought
to Wallace by “a trew woman,” her servant. His
grief, as well as that of Sir John the Graham, and
all who were with them, was extreme. Seeing them
weep so sorrowfully, Wallace endeavoured, while his
own spirit was wellnigh breaking, to encourage his
friends—

¢ Cese, men,’” he said, ¢ this is a butlass payne;
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We can nocht now chewyss hyr lyff agavne.

The baxlfull teris bryst bra.lthly fra his eyne.

Sichand he said: ¢ Sall neuir man me se

Rest in till eyss, quhill this deid wrokyn be,

The saklace slatchter off hir, blith and brycht,

That I avow to the Makar off mycht,

That off that nacioune I sall neuir forber,

Yhong nor ald, that abil is to wer:

Preysts no wemen I think [nocht] for to sla,

In my defaut bot thai me causing ma.

Schir John,” he said, ¢lat all this murnyng be,

And for her saik thair sall ten thousand de.

Quhar men may weipe, ther curage is the less;

1t slakis ire off wrang thai suld redres.’”
While at Cartlane Wood, Wallace was joined by
his uncle of Auchinleck, (who had heard what had
befallen,) with ten adherents. Bent on revenge,
the party proceeded to Lanark at night, the English
watch little thinking of them at the time. They
parted on entering the town, Wallace and his men
to find out Hesilrig, and Sir John the Graham and
his followers to search for Sir Robert Thorn. The
sheriff was asleep in his own house, which was dis-
tinguished from others by its height. Wallace broke
open the door with his foot; Hesilrig, alarmed,
rushed towards the stair, where he was caught by
‘Wallace and slain. As he fell over, Auchinleck, not
knowing that he was dead, stabbed him twice.
Young Hesilrig, coming to the assistance of his
father, met a similar fate, and the cry going rudely
to the street, great numbers were collected. Sir
John the Graham set fire to the house of Sir Robert
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Thorn, who perished thercin. The townspeople
rallied to the assistance of Wallace, and upwards of
twelve score of the enemy were slain. Lanark was
now entirely in the hands of the Scots, and the news
of what had occurred travelling into all quarters,
great numbers flocked to join his standard, and he
was unanimously chosen as chief and leader. He
now made no secret of his intention to free his
country from the yoke under which she laboured.

With the adventure at Lanark, Wallace first
appears as the champion of his country in most of
our early chronicles. It is taken notice of chiefly
as immediately preliminary to his openly declaring
himself as the enemy of English dominion.

At this time the lordship of Bothwell was possessed
by Sir Aymer de Vallence,* one of Edward’s men,
while Murray, the rightful owner, fled to Arran.
This person sent a despatch to Edward, apprising
him of the movements of the Scots, and of their in-
tention to reconquer the kingdom. Great prepara-
tions were accordingly made by that monarch for a
fresh invasion of Scotland, “that rewme to statut
new.” A Scotsman, born in Riccarton, was with
Edward, as one of his pursuivants. He knew all
England well, and had been in Normandy, France,
and Flanders. He was called by the English,

* A Scotsman, according to the Minstrel, and evidently, from
the name, of the same stock of Walenses or Valenses as Wallace
himself. There is some dubiety, however, about the identity of
this person.
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Grymsbe, from his burly, dark appearance. Hear-
ing of Wallace, this person fled secretly from
Edward, and sought the Scottish chief, whom he
found in Kyle, whither he had gone to collect what
forces he could. From this person Wallace had the
fullest tidings of England, and the intentions of
Edward. He was called Jop by the Scots, and
being a person of ability and faithful, he was made
arms-bearer of Scotland.

On his return from Ayrshire, Wallace speedily
assembled his forces. He gave a free discharge to
all who accepted of his peace, for what they had
done before. His uncle, Sir Ranald’s, truce with
Percy had expired, still he was under a bond, so
that he durst not be known himself in battle
against the Southron, but he sent all the men he
could command, and the Wallaces, his own relations,
poured in to him from all sides. Under Adam
Wallace of Riccarton, and Robert Boyd, a thousand
horseman came from Cuninghame and Kyle to his
standard at Lanark. Sir John the Graham and his
good chivalry, Sir John of Tinto, “gud Auchinleck,”
and many a true Scot, to the number of three thou-
sand on horseback, and a vast concourse on foot, but
without proper arms, were arrayed under the Scot-
tish banner.

The Minstrel says that by the time this had
occurred, Edward of England, with sixty thousand
men, had advanced as far as Biggar, a village in
Lanarkshire. There is probably a mistake here, for
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FEdward is said to have been then on the Continent.
But as the precise date * is not given, it is impos-
sible to say decidedly. The Minstrel may have
spoken figuratively of the presence of Edward. It
is probable, at the same time, that the number of
the English is exaggerated. Be this as it may, he
gives a very circumstantial account of what took
place—
“Thai playntyt thar feild with tentis and pailyonis,
Qubar claryowns blew full mony mychty sonis ;

Plenyst that place with gud wittaill and wyne,
In cartis brocht thar purwiance dewyne.”

The “awful king,” he says, caused two heralds to
proclaim, that if Wallace came within his grace, he
should have pardon and reward ; if not, he was to be
treated as a rebel, and hanged. He then proceeds
to tell how young squire Fehew, sister’s son to the
king, went in disguise with the heralds, that he
might have a sight of the Scottish chief, who, with
his army, lay at Tinto Hill. Wallace replied by a
written document in the most scornful manner; and
having been informed by his standard-bearer, Jop,
who squire Fehew was, he caused him to be be-

* The battle of Biggar must have been fought in April 1297,
It is not mentioned by any of the contemporary English histo-
rians, and is, therefore, regarded as apocryphal; yet we cannot
think that such a rising as unquestionably took place at Lanark
would be allowed to go unchecked for any length of time; and
it is 8o borne out by traditional circumstances, that it is impos-
sible to doubt that an important engagement took place at Big-
gar. Edward does not appear to have left England on his expe-
dition against Philip of France till the summer or autumn of 1297,

Fid
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headed,* while the two heralds were mutilated in a
manuer which attested his insatiable hatred of the
ravagers of his country. Wallace then designs to
visit the English host, of which purpose he informs
no one save Sir John Tinto.} Betwixt Culter and
Biggar he met a delf merchant, with whom he
bargained for an exchange of elothes, his horse and
pitchers. In this disguise, as night approached, he
passed through the English encampment, and ob-
served the manner in which it was arranged. He
was subjected to much annoyance by the soldiers,
who made sport of him, broke his wares, and other-
wise enjoyed themselves at his expense. Amidst
the ribaldry and noise, he fled with all speed back
to his own army ; and well he did so, for they con-
sidered him lost or betrayed, and as Sir John Tinto
was the last person seen in his company, suspicion

* No such person can be traced in the “ Feedra,” or elsewhere,
and the story is considered fabulous. The same person, and his
death, however, are again referred to by the Minstrel, in detail-
ing the particulars of Wallace’s invasion of England, after the
battle of Stirling, so that unless there was some authority for
the statement he would hardly be found returning to it.

+ The narrative of the Minstrel makes no disguise of the fact
that Wallace was animated by the most deadly hatred of the
English, and on no occasion did he spare them. It at the same
time bears ample testimony to his uniform leniency to the priest-
hood and women whom he had in his power. He has been
accused of the contrary by the chroniclers of England; but this
is a mistake, if his biographers—Blair and the Minstrel—be
correct.

% Nothing more is known than the name of this individual;
yet the Hill of Tinto, or “ Tinto’s Tap,” is a prominent feature
in the topography of Lanarkshire.
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so fell upon him, that Graham had caused him to be
bound, and the cry rose to burn or hang him.
Wallace speedily unbound the knight, and made
known the business he had been upon. Sir John the
Graham was somewhat displeased, saying it was not
chieftain-like to put himself in such peril; but
Wallace replied that they must all put themselves
in greater peril ere they should win Scotland.

Having rested till near day, the whole army was
put in motion. Wallace himself, with Boyd and
Auchinleck, leading the van ; Sir John the Graham,
with Adam of Riccarton and Somerville, led the
second thousand ; the third was placed under Sir
Walter of Newbigging, David his son, and Sir John
Tinto. Behind these three divisions he ranged the
footmen, with instructions not to engage until they
saw the proper time, as they wanted harness and -
weapons to sustain the first encounter.* He then
called all the chieftains together, and gave strict
injunctions that the men should be kept from pillage
until the battle was gained—

“Wyne first the men, the gud syne ye may haiff.”

Thus prepared, and with one accord, they pushed
on to the English camp. On their way they were
joined by Tom Halliday, with his two sons, Wallace
and Rutherfurd, and Jardent and Kirkpatrick, with

* The same arrangement as Bruce seems to have made at
Bannockburn, when he stationed the gillies, or camp followers,
on the rising ground behind the main army.

1 Supposed to have been ancestor of the Jardens of Applegirth
in Annandale.
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three hundred men in arms. The sight of them
gave great pleasure and encouragement to the Scot-
tish army. Wallace, who knew the encampment, led
on his division against the pavilion of the king, or
his representative. The first onset was terrific, the
whole host being taken by surprise. The mass of
the English rallied round the pavilion, and there
the battle raged with dreadful fury. The Earl of
Kent, who had been out during the night with five
hundred men, rushed to the rescue. Sir John the
Graham dashed in with his second division ; next
the third, bearing down the pavilion ; and then the
foot, following in clamorous fury, arming themselves
with what weapons they lighted upon. The Earl of
Kent, who gallantly maintained the fight in advance
of the pavilion, was at length cut down by Wallace,
*when the whole host began to give way, bearing off
their leader reluctantly. Four thousand of the
English were killed on the field, and seven in the
flight. Twenty thousand of them fled in a body.
The Scots pursued as far as Culter Hope, when they
were recalled. By this time the sun had risen clear
and high, and returning to the camp, the elated
army of Wallace fared sumptuously on the rich
purveyance of the enemy. After a little rest, they
spoiled the encampment of all its stores—of jewellery,
money, and other valuables. Thinking the English
might rally, Wallace, with good generalship, resolved
not to risk another encounter on so plain a field.

Causing the spoils of the camp to be deposited in
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Ropis Bog, he led his army to Davis Shaw, where
they remained the greater part of the day.

When the English commander saw that the Scots
had ceased the pursuit at Culter Hope, he rested the
. flying host at Johnie’s Green, where his broken army
gathered together. He grieved much for the loss
sustained. The king’s brother, Hew,* two nephews,
and the Earl of Kent, were amongst the slain. Two
cooks, who had escaped from the camp at Biggar,
informed the English general how the Scots were
regaling themselves, and that they might be easily
overcome in their drunkenness. He would not,
however, be moved by such a tale, believing that
the Scottish leader had more skill than allow him-
self to be so taken. The Duke of Longcastle, how-
ever, obtained leave, at the head of ten thousand
men, to make the trial. He was joined by West-~
moreland, and a lord of Picardy, who had kept Calais
with Edward, each commanding a thousand horse.
These twelve thousand were joined by the whole
power of Roxburgh and Berwick, Sir Ralph Gray,
and Aymer de Vallence, with his power. On ar-
riving at Biggar, they were surprised to find nothing
but dead corpses. They were speedily informed,
however, of the whereabouts of the Scots. As soon
as Wallace was apprised of their approach, he re-
moved his army from the wood to Ropis Bog,
leaving their horses in a little shaw at the one side
of it, where people on foot might pass. His design

* This is considered fabulous,
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was to sustain the English onset on foot. Seeing
where the Scots had passed, Longcastle resolved to
follow, thinking that the moss, which was covered
with long grass, would avail them little. In this
they were greatly mistaken. The advanced squad-
rons of the English sunk deep in the mire, and be-
came an easy prey. Then the Scots took to dry
ground, and fiercely assailed the remainder. Sir
John the Graham, after having been rather roughly
handled by the Knight of Picardy, pierced at last
his “brycht byrneis” steel, and brought him dead
to the ground. Wallace would fain have been at
the false Vallence, but Westmoreland, who was be-
. tween, received the stroke, while Robert Boyd slew
a captain of Berwick. The English now fled at all
points, carrying the news of their defeat to their
chief, who sought the south with great sorrow. Af
the Birkhill he tarried a little, then ecrossed the
Solway into England. Meanwhile the Scots so-
journed in counsel at Braidwood.

Such is the account of the battle of Biggar given
by the Minstrel. It is very circumstantial, still it
is quite possible that he may have been misled, or
rather that Blair, his author, was, as to Edward
having been present with the English army. That
there was a battle of some importance is evident
from the tumuli at the east end of the town, and the
tradition of such an encounter is never questioned.
In the “Memorie of the Somervills,” of whom Sir
Walter of Newbigging was an ancestor, it is men-
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tioned that David his son, then only in his fifteenth
year, behaved so well that he was knighted, possibly
by Wallace himself, on the spot.

Success having thus crowned the efforts of Wallace
so far, he appointed a meeting to be held at the
Forest Kirk. Here he was appointed warden, and re-
ceived all who accepted of his peace. Among others
came Sir William Douglas, who had been taken pri-
soner by Edward at Dunbar, determined no longer to
acknowledge allegiance to the usurper. He was the
more welcome that he had never appeared in arms
on the side of the English. Into the south Wallace
soon afterwards passed, and ruled the country as
he thought best—appointing Scotsmen as sheriffs
and captains, in lieu of the deposed English. The
Jvictory of Biggar must thus have been an important
one, since such results followed. As the Minstrel
says—

¢ Fra Gamlis peth the land obeyt him haill,
Till Ur wattir, bath strenth, forest, and daill.”
In Galloway no house stood out against him, save
that of Wigton—the captain of which stole away by
sea to England, leaving everything waste. Wallace
appointed one Adam Gordon as keeper.

A strength on the water of Cree* from its pecu-
liar construction, held out for some time. It was
situated on a rock, the only entrance to which was
barred by a strong wooden gate. Behind was the sea.
Wallace visited this place himself at last, and re-

¢ Cruggleton Castle. See the M‘XKerlies, at the end of the volume,
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solved to take it. Leaving his party out of sight,
he took only two with him—Stephen and Karlé,
who could climb under the water.* The rock they
mastered in this manner, and the guard, taking no
heed of invasion from such a quarter, were instantly
overpowered, the gate opened, and the whole of his
men admitted. The garrison, sixty in number, were
put to death. An old priest and two women only
were left alive. Wallace and his men remained in
the stronghold until all the purveyance of the Eng-
lish was consumed. He then dismantled the pldce,
and retired.

To Carrick they next rode, and finding at Turn-
berry that the captain was at Ayr consulting with
Percy, they set fire to the gate, when the castle was
speedily surrendered, a priest and some women being:
the only parties left within. Wallace spoiled the
place, and next day proceeded to Cumnock. From
thence he reached Lanark, where he held a court
of justice for the punishment of evil-doers. Having
placed his brother’s son in his heritage, he returned
to the Black Crag, where there was a castle which
anciently belonged to the Dunbars. This house he
garrisoned strongly with his adherents, and remained
there in “ gud rest ” for three months.

The position of parties at this time was, that

* There is some dubiety about this expression, but such are
the words of the Minstrel.

t His elder brother must have been slain before this time, as
the Minstrel elsewhere asserta
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Wallace held all the south country and Galloway.
Percy still held Ayr, Aymer de Vallence Bothwell,
and Bishop Bek ruled over Glasgow. Such, too,
was the state of Edward’s affairs on the Continent
that a truce with Wallace was deemed the most
prudent step. The Earl of Stamford was then
Chancellor of England. He and Aymer de Vallence
were the chief negotiators in this affair. A meeting
was arranged, on terms of mutual protection, to
take place in the Kirk of Ruglen, where Wallace
attended with fifty warriors asa guard. Sir Aymer
de Vallence introduced the Chancellor of England
to him ; but Wallace refused to salute him, because
he was an enemy of his country, and at once
demanded his business. “To procure peace,” said
the Chancellor, “I am sent by our King.” After
some debate, Wallace said—
¢ Schyr, we jangill bot in wayne,

My consell gyffis, I will na fabill mak,

As for a yer a finaill pess to tak.

Nocht for my self, that I bynd to your feill,

I can nocht trow that euir ye will be leill ;

Bot for pur folk gretlye has beyne supprisyt,
I will tak peess, quhill forthir we be awisit.”

A band was then drawn out, to the effect that there
should be a truce between the Scots and English

. for a twelvemonth, everything remaining as it then

».\:s_
¢ Castell and towne suld stand in that ilk stait.”
This band, which was made in the month of Fcbru-
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ary 1297* having been signed and sealed, Wallace
passed into the west country. He handed over the
indenture to his uncle, Sir Ranald, and retired to his
castle at Cumnock, having no great confidence in the
good faith of the enemy.

Wallace first appears in history in 1297. Wyn-
toun narrates the occurrence at Lanark as happen-
ing in this year ; and of course the battle of Stirling
Bridge and his subsequent invasion of England are
mentioned by various historians. The previous ad-
ventures of Wallace, and his repeated encounters
with stray bodies of the English, rest wholly on the
credit of the Minstrel ; yet we see no reason to
doubt his authority. It must be obvious to every
one that Wallace could not spring into the position
of leader of the army of Scotland, and guardian of
the kingdom, without having previously recommend-
ed himself to his countrymen by the display of a
prowess and success in war that placed him far
above all competitors for such a position ; but these
particulars could not well be known to the English
historians, while our own Wyntoun does not pretend
to write a history of the hero, because, as he tells us,
there were already so many gestes of his good deeds,
that it would require a volume to do justice to his
memory, and to write which he had neither “wit nor
good leisure.” As the biographers of Wallace, such

* The battle of Biggar could not have been fought before the

month of April, consequently the Minstrel must be wrong hers,
unless the treaty was arranged to date back to February.
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CHAPTER VIL

VISION IN MONKTON KIRK—BARNS OF AYR—THE FRIARS’ BENISON
—BEK AND PERCY DRIVEN OUT OF GLASGOW—DEATH OF
ROKEBY—STIRLING CASTLE TAKEN—MAKFADYAN AND HIS
ARMY DESTROYED AT THE PASS OF BRANDIR—COUNCIL AT
ARDCHATTAN—ST JOHNSTON TAEEN—ENGLISH DESTROYED AT
DUNOTTAR—BHIPS BURNED AT ABERDEEN—CASTLE OF DUN-
DEE BESIEGED—BATTLE OF STIRLING BRIDGE—CRESSINGHAM
SLAIN—SIR JOHN MENTEITH JOINS WALLACE—CRYSTAL OF
SETON.

As Wallace had dreaded, no long time was allowed
to elapse ere symptoms of duplicity on the part of
the English were observed. Early in April Edward
held a council at Carlisle, to which many of the
English captains were summoned, but no Scots-
man, save Aymer de Vallence, “that traytour was
off auld” It is supposed that it was by his
advice the English adopted the treacherous pro-
ceedings which followed. A justice aire was ordered
to be held in the Barns of Ayr, on the 18th of June
(1297), to which all the leading men of the district
were summoned. Percy, the Governor of Ayr, hav-
ing been made aware of what was intended, refused
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to be a party to such treachery, and one Arnulf, of
Southampton, was appointed in his place. Another
justice aire was called, on the same day, for the dis-
trict of Glasgow—the great object being that Wal-
lace should not escape.

Scotsmen wondered how the English should take
such masterful proceedings on hand during the
treaty of peace. Sir Ranald, the hereditary sheriff
of the county, called a meeting of his friends prior
to the 18th of June, at Monkton Kirk, which is
situated about four miles from Ayr. * Wallace, the
Warden of Scotland, attended. The Minstrel says—

“ This Maistir Jhone a worthi clerk was thar:
He chargyt his kyne for to byd fra that Ayr.” *
We presume that, by this « Maistir Jhone,” the bard
means the chaplain of Monkton ; and the reason he
gives for his foreboding of evil is the departure of
Percy, who bad gone to Glasgow on pretence of at-
tending the fair. The Minstrel here indulges in
another of those superstitious occurrences charac-
teristic of the age. After Wallace had entered the
kirk, and fallen into slumber, Kneland, who fol-
lowed, supported him while in this condition. In
the vision which he saw, he thought an aged man
approached, and taking him by the hand, and ad-
dressing him as his son, presented him with a sword
of huge dimensions, “off burly burnist steill,” the
plummet of which was of topaz stone, and both
“hilt and hand ” glittered like glass :—
* That justice aire.
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“ Gud sone,” he said, “ we tary her to lang ;
Thow sall go see quhar wrocht is mekill wrang.”
Then he led him to a mountain and disappearcd.
Wallace followed with his eyes, and would fain have
learned more of him. Then he saw a fire gleaming,
which quickly spread over the whole of Scotland,
from Ross to Solway Sand. Then descended
“A queyne,
Inlumyt lycht, schynand full brycht and scheyne.”

In her presence there was so much light that it
wholly eclipsed the fire. She gave him a wand of
red and green, and with “saffyr sanyt his face and
eyne.” Addressing him as the chosen of Heaven to
help those who suffered much wrong, and bidding
him to be of good courage, though his reward should
be small on earth, she handed him a book; then
ascending the cloud from which she had emerged,
soared out of sight. On breaking up the volume, he
found it to be written in three parts, the first in
brass letters, the second in gold, and the third in
silver. In his anxiety to make out the writing,
‘Wallace awoke. Stepping from the church, and tell-
ing the worthy clerk of his vision, the latter unriddled
it to the best of his ability. It was St Andrew who
gave him the sword; the mountain was a clear
knowledge of the wrongs he was to right; the fire
he saw would prove evil tidings ; the lady, from her
brightness, might be the Virgin Mary; the wand
represented rule and severe judgment; the red
betokened battle and blood; the green, courage;



THE BARNS OF AYR. 127

the sapphire stone, with which she blessed him, indi-
cated lasting grace ; and the three-fold book meant
his broken country, which he was destined to re-
deem. The brass letters spoke of oppression and
war; the golden, honour and worthiness; the
silver, clean life and heavenly bliss. This vision—
which is also recorded by Fordun—and its interpre-
tation, though it may be regarded only as a poetical
fiction, is interesting as illustrative of the peculiar
auguries of the time, some of which are not extinct
in our own day.

From Monkton Kirk, Wallace rode home to Cors-
bie with his uncle, where the night was passed, and
next morning set out for the justice aire. They had
ridden as far as Kingcase,* when Wallace, with
much depression of spirit, inquired for the band of
peace, which had been agreed upon at Ruglen Kirk.
Sir Ranald answered that it was at Corsbie in the
charter-chest. Deeming it prudent to have it, lest
the English should prove false, Wallace, at the de-
sire of his uncle, rode back to Corsbie for the docu-
ment. Asno one save themselves knew where to find
it, it would have been useless to send a messenger.
Wallace, taking three of the company with him, re-
turned to Corsbie accordingly. Sir Ranald rode on
to the town, unsuspicious of deceit, and at once pro-
cceded to the Barns where the court was to be held.

* An hospital on Prestwick Muir, supposed to have been en-
dowed by Robert the Bruce. But it would thus appear to have
t<en in existence before he became king of Scotland.



128 WALLACE AND HIS TIMES.

These Barns, according to the statement of the
Minstrel elsewhere, had been originally erected for
the baggage of Edward—

“ For gret bernys that tyme stud in till Ayr,

‘Wrocht for the king, quhen his lugyng wes thar.” :
It may be observed, however, that there was an-
ciently a public barn or barns in Ayr, for the use of
the burgh tenantry, the whole lands now forming
the parish being the property of the burgh, the ma-
gistrates of which fulfilled the duty of the baron,
having the right of “pit and gallows,” according to
feudal tenure.

In the present instance, the Barns spoken of by
the Minstrel must be regarded in the singular num-
ber, and he no doubt means barracks. “For gret
bernys,” we should read, “for great barracks” at
that time stood in Ayr—not that there were foure
barns, as in the printed editions. Dr Jamieson was
certainly right in adhering to the MS. in this instance.

It was—
“ Byggyt about, that no man entir mycht,
Bot ane at anys, nor haiff off othir sicht.”
The whole description bears out that there was only
one apartment—

¢ A bawk was knyt all full of rapys keyne ;
Sic a towboth sen syn was neuir seyne,
Stern men was set the entré for to hald:
Nayne mycht pass in, bot ay as thai war cald.”

The building is thus spoken of wholly in the singular,
a tolbooth, the entry.






“ Wallace was hurrying unconsciously to the Barns, when he was hailed by
his niece.”—WaLrack, Page 129.
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Sir Ranald is described as the first to enter thig
infamous trap. A running cord, or noose, was ime
mediately slipped over his head, by which they sus.
pended him to the beam. Sir Bryce Blair, ancestor
of the Blairs of Blair, still existing in Ayrshire, and
his nephew, were the next victims; then “a gentill
knycht,” Sir Neil Montgomerie, of the noble house of
Eglinton. Of Wallace’s friends many were put to
death : the Crawfords, Campbells, Boyds, Barclays,
and Stuarts of Kyle, and Kennedies of Carrick.
Eighteen score of barons and knights, according to
che Minstrel, perished on this occasion. He says—

“ Dolour it is heron to tary lang,”
and cuts short his story of the horrid tragedy. The
dead bodies are said to have been cast out naked.

Robert Boyd, who had come to town apparently
in the following of Sir Ranald, passed with twenty
of the Wallace men to a tavern. XKarlé, Kneland,
and Byrd* had accompanied Wallace back to Cors-
bie. Stephen of Ireland, going out to the street,
was informed by a “trew woman,” whom Wallace
afterwards addresses as “der nece,” of what had
happened. With Boyd and his men he retired to
Laglane wood. Meanwhile Wallace had arrived
from Corsbie, and was hurrying unconsciously to
the Barns, when he was hailed by his niece, and

* Baird, believed to have been the ancestcz of the Bairds of
Newbyth. There was, however, in later, if not in these times,
a branch of the Bairds who held the property of Kilhenzie, in
Carrick.

I
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warned not only against entering, but to revenge
the death of his kin. He was overwhelmed and
confounded by the intelligence. Urging the woman
to acquaint Boyd, Adam Wallace of Riccarton, and
William Crawford,* he turned his horse in the di-
rection of Laglane wood, where Boyd and Stephen
had gone before, saying,

“ Adew market, and welcum woddis greyne.”

Fifteen men, with a macer, followed to compel his
attendance at the justice aire. They of course did
not know him, but the reception they met with con-
vinced the few who returned that it could be no
other than “the wicht Wallace.” He and his three
_men killed ten out of the fifteen, the rest made their
escape.

The new Governor, Arnulf, to encourage his men
to remain firm with him, promised that every gentle-
man should be made a knight, and that the lands of
the dead barons were to be divided next day. Four
thousand Southrons, as the Minstrel tells us, were
that night in Ayr, and the Justice, for ease, chose
rather that they should lodge in the Barns or Bar-
racks, than the castle. Great provision had been
made for the entertainment of the English on this
occasion—

¢ Gret purwians be se to thaim was brecht,
‘With Irland ayle, the mychteast that couth be wrocht.”

* Second son of Sir Reginald, and cousin of Wallace. He is
supposed to have been ancestor of the Crawfords of Haining in
Stirlingshire, and of the Crawfords in Linlithgowshire,
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Ireland, it would appear, was much famed in the
thirteenth century for ale. The English had no
watch set, and enjoyed themselves to great excess,
both in eating and drinking. As the Minstrel
says—

“ Thar chyftayne than was gret Bacchus off wyn.”
Aware of the revelry in which they had indulged,
and of their helpless condition, the “trew woman,”
formerly mentioned, gathered together a number of
the Ayr men, at the head of whom she proceeded to
Laglane wood, and there met Wallace. They car-
ried with them ample refreshments, so that all who
chose might eat and drink. A considerable body of
men having now been brought together, Wallace
briefly addressed them, in reference to the dreadful
tragedy which had been enacted, and the necessity
of having some “remeid therefore.” Although he
was Warden of the Marches, yet as many were there
who had no